

Selecting a flood mitigation measure for Matera, Italy, and determining its effectiveness in reducing physical flood characteristics

Report Bachelor Thesis Civil Engineering 30 June 2021

Lieke van Haastregt





UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

Colophon

This report contains the findings of the Bachelor thesis project of Lieke van Haastregt for completion of the Bachelor Civil Engineering at the University of Twente.

Title	Choosing a flood mitigation measure for Matera, Italy, and determining its
	effectiveness in reducing certain physical flood characteristics
Version	Final
Report size	82 pages
Location	Montréal
Date	30 June 2021
Author	A.V. (Lieke) van Haastregt
Student number	S1938193
Email-address	a.v.vanhaastregt@student.utwente.nl
Internal Supervisor	Dr. Ir. M.J. Booij
	University of Twente
	Faculty of Engineering Technology
	Department of Multidisciplinary Water Management
External Supervisor	Prof. Dr. J.F. Adamowski
	McGill University
	Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences
	Department of Bioresource Engineering
External Supervisor	M.R. Alizadeh
	McGill University
	Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences
	Department of Bioresource Engineering
External Supervisor	Dr. Ir. R. Albano
	University of Basilicata
	School of Engineering
External Supervisor	Ir. L. Mancusi
	Research on Energy Systems SpA
	Sustainable Development and Energy Resources Department, Italy



McGill University Faculty of Agricultural and Environmental Sciences 21111 Lakeshore Road Sainte-Anne-de-Bellevue, Quebec H9X 3V9 Canada www.mcgill.ca/macdonald/



University of Basilicata School of Engineering

Via dell'Ateneo Lucano, 20 85100 Potenza PZ Italy www.portale.unibas.it/

UNIVERSITY OF TWENTE.

University of Twente Faculty of Engineering Technology

Horst Building, Nr. 20 7500 AE, Enschede Netherlands www.utwente.nl/en/et/

Preface

This report presents the findings of my Bachelor thesis 'Selecting a flood mitigation measure in Matera, *Italy, and determining its effectiveness in reducing physical flood characteristics*'. This thesis forms the concluding research assignment of a three-year Civil Engineering Bachelor programme at the University of Twente. The aim of the research was to find a flood mitigation measure that is suitable for implementation in Matera, that could potentially reduce the nuisance that is caused by pluvial floods in Matera. This aim has been achieved by conducting a multi-criteria analysis taking into account various flood mitigation measures, of which the best performing measure has been evaluated with regards to its performance in reducing certain physical flood characteristics, using the FLORA-2D software in QGIS.

The research has been conducted at McGill University, in close cooperation with the University of Basilicata, from April 12th 2021 to June 30th 2021. Due to COVID-19 regulations and physical distance, most of the preparation and supervisory sessions have been held online, but I experienced it as a great opportunity to work together with like-minded people from different locations. I would like to thank everyone that has been involved in this research project for offering helpful advices and for making the research project possible.

Especially, I would like to express my gratitude to Raffaele Albano and Leonardo Mancusi, for being patient and helping me with the simulation and modelling aspects of the research. Also, I would like to thank Reza Alizadeh, for his feedback on the largest part of the research and also for his enthusiasm on the topic. It encouraged me to be decisive on some difficult parts and move on to the next steps in the project. Lastly, I would like to thank Jan Adamowski and Martijn Booij, for facilitating the set-up of the entire research project and for providing feedback.

Finally, I hope you enjoy reading this report and find it informative. If there are any comments, questions or further interests regarding this report or the thesis subject in general, I invite you to contact me.

Lieke van Haastregt 30 June 2021, Montréal

Summary

This report explains the set-up and findings of a research project that is focussed on the selection of a flood mitigation measure for Matera, a city in Italy, as well as the differences the implementation of this measure causes in the study area in terms of physical flood characteristics. The research project has been conducted with the support of McGill University, the University of Basilicata, and the University of Twente.

In Matera, an increasing amount of nuisance is experienced due to an increase in the severity and frequency of pluvial flooding. With the ancient city centre of Matera, the Sassi, enlisted by UNESCO as a world heritage site, it is necessary to intervene in the area with the aim to reduce flood events. Therefore, this research project focussed on (i) the selection of a flood mitigation measure that is suitable for Matera, and (ii) the evaluation of the implementation of this flood mitigation measure in terms of changes in each cell in maximum inundation depth, maximum flow velocity, and the maximum value of the product of the inundation depth and flow velocity (hereafter called DV) in the study area.

For the first part of the research, a multi-criteria analysis was set up in which the alternatives were flood mitigation measures that were taken from literature, and in which the criteria and their weights were formulated and calculated based on a stakeholder analysis. Like the alternatives themselves, their performance has been assessed based on literature, resulting in a ranking of seven different flood mitigation measures. After a sensitivity analysis was done for the weights of the criteria and performance assessment, the measure that ranked highest was taken for the second part of the research.

The second part of the research consisted of a comparison of the three mentioned flood characteristics and the pedestrian hazard in the current situation (no measure in place) and the new situation (highest ranked measure in place). This comparison was based on simulation results from a two-dimensional hydrodynamic model developed at the University of Basilicata, called FLORA-2D, for which an urban basin characterization, data from a historic rainfall event, and an urban context assessment in the form of identification of critical points in the study area were used as boundary conditions. FLORA-2D is a model that does not simulate interaction with any kind of drainage system, but the choice was still made to use the model because the rainfall event that was simulated was too large for the existing sewerage system to drain all the runoff.

It is found that flood prevention, easy maintenance, enhancement of the living area, various aspects regarding construction of the measure, and sustainability are the main factors that determine the suitability of flood mitigation measures for Matera. Scoring well on all these aspects, a bio-retention system comes out highest in the ranking, followed closely by urban wetlands. Also performing relatively well are rain barrels and detention tanks and on ranking lowest are green roofs, retention ponds, and permeable pavement.

Simulation of the rainfall event shows for both the current and the new situation that the locations with the highest maximum inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV are the Via Vincenzo Cappelluti, which connects the intersection of the main roads to the entry of the Sassi, the beginning of the Via Fiorentini, which is the entry of the Sassi, and the north-eastern part of the study area. Even though the maximum value of each characteristic decreased outside of the Sassi, the highest values are still found at the same locations after implementation of bio-retention systems as before implementation of the systems. At the entry of the Sassi, the maximum values even increase, which is the case as well for the pedestrian hazard. Thus, the flood reduction effectivity of bio-retention systems with the placement that was used for the simulation, was found to be mixed.

Unfortunately, the research was bound to a limited time schedule. Because of this, some assumptions had to be made and literature had to be used in many steps instead of actual real-life information or input. Because the performance of flood mitigation measures is very context specific, and because the input of stakeholders has a large impact on the set-up of criteria and weights, this might have reduced the accuracy of the multi-criteria analysis and subsequently the ranking of alternatives.

Even though FLORA-2D was useful for simulation of the flood event, its use also limited the flood mitigation measures that were used as alternatives to measures that do not affect drainage systems, since the impact of measures that do affect the drainage systems could not be simulated by the model. Also regarding the simulation, some assumptions had to be made because the urban basin characterization was not complete, since for some areas the sources that were used did not give a clear image of the surface type. The characterisation was also not very detailed, since only three permeability factors were taken into account for the surface types to reduce the amount of work. A last limitation for the second part of the research, is that the resolution of the grid that was used for the urban basin characterization was at some points too low for easy use. This made the implementation of the bio-retention systems less accurate, and it also made the output of the simulations more difficult to interpret.

Some recommendations for future research are done. For the first part of the research, it is first of all recommended to look into flood mitigation measures that can mitigate urban pluvial floods via the drainage system as well. If there are promising measures, it might be useful to combine an alternative model (one that takes into account the effect of drainage systems on the flow dynamics) with FLORA-2D to evaluate their flood reduction effectivity. Secondly, the multi-criteria analysis could be more accurate if stakeholders can give input into the matter, and if literature is used that describes measures' performances in conditions that are more similar to the conditions of the study area.

For the second part of the research, firstly it is recommended to visit the study area to make the urban basin characterization more accurate. Secondly, it is recommended to look into the effect that the permeability factor has on the runoff in the study area. If this is a large effect, it is recommended to specify the surface type into more than three categories. Thirdly, it is suggested to simulate more rainfall events and different set-ups of implementation of bio-retention systems (or another measure), since the placement of the measure most likely affects its flood reduction effectivity.

Table of Contents

Coloph	Colophon			
Prefac	e	3		
Summ	ary	4		
List of	Figures	8		
List of	Tables	9		
1. In	troduction	10		
1.1.	Study area	10		
1.2.	Cause of the problem	10		
1.3.	State of the art	11		
1.4.	Research objective and research questions	12		
1.5.	Scope	13		
1.6.	Reading guide	13		
2. M	lethods	14		
2.1.	Schematic overview of research approach	14		
2.2.	Set-up MCA – Alternatives (Q1)	14		
2.3.	Set-up MCA – Criteria (Q2)	15		
2.4.	Conducting MCA (Q3)	17		
2.5.	Evaluating current situation (Q4)	18		
2.6.	Evaluating new situation with implemented measure (Q5)	19		
2.7.	Comparison of new situation with reference situation (Q6)	20		
3. R	esults	21		
3.1.	Possible flood mitigation measures in Matera (Q1)	21		
3.2.	Set-up of criteria and valuation of criteria (Q2)	22		
3.3.	Preferred flood mitigation measure in Matera (Q3)	25		
3.4.	Flood risk in Matera without measure implemented (Q4)	28		
3.5.	Flood risk in Matera with measure implemented (Q5)	30		
3.6.	Comparison of flood risk in Matera before and after implementation of measure (Q6)	32		
4. D	iscussion	36		
4.1.	Discussion of MCA	36		
4.2.	Discussion of evaluation of flood reduction effectivity with FLORA-2D	37		
4.3.	Link to literature	38		
5. C	onclusion and recommendations	39		
5.1.	Conclusion	39		
5.2.	Recommendations	39		
Refere	nces	41		

Appendi	x A – FLORA-2D explanation and set-up	49
A.1.	FLORA-2D explained	. 49
A.2.	Set-up of the model for a specific study area	. 49
A.3.	Set-up of simulation settings	. 49
Appendi	x B – Flood mitigation measure performances	52
Appendi	x C – Value tree hierarchies to criteria	70
C.1.	Value tree hierarchies	. 70
C.2.	Criteria	. 71
Appendi	x D – Inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV over time for critical points	75

List of Figures

Figure 1 - Matera, study area outlined in red.	. 11
Figure 2 - Digital Elevation Model (DEM) of the study area	. 10
Figure 3 – Orthophotos showing the urbanization of Matera in 1994 (left), and 2017 (right) (RSDI Basilicata,	
2021)	. 11
Figure 4 - Schematic overview of research approach	. 14
Figure 5 - Flowchart of the process of establishing weighted criteria	. 17
Figure 6 - Hyetographs of effective rainfall for each surface type	. 19
Figure 7 - Stakeholders and their interests, grouped	. 23
Figure 8 - Power-interest grid of stakeholders in the flood mitigation project in Matera	. 23
Figure 9 - Sensitivity of alternative scores to stakeholder group value ratio	. 27
Figure 10 - Minimum, maximum, and average alternative score for varying uncertainty factors	. 27
Figure 11 - Map with surface area types in the study area in the current situation	. 28
Figure 12 - Maximum inundation depth for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in f	the
Sassi	. 29
Figure 13 - Maximum flow velocity for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in the	
Sassi	. 29
Figure 14 - Maximum DV for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi	. 29
Figure 15 - Map of homogeneous surfaces in the study area in the new situation	. 30
Figure 16 - Maximum inundation depth for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the)
Sassi	. 31
Figure 17 - Maximum flow velocity for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sass	;i 31
Figure 18 – Maximum DV for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi	. 31
Figure 19 - Change in maximum inundation depth in the new situation compared to the current situation	. 32
Figure 20 - Inundation depth over time at critical point (CP) #8 for the current situation (CS) and the new	
situation (NS)	. 33
Figure 21 - Change in maximum flow velocity in the new situation compared to the current situation	. 33
Figure 22 - Close-up of the change in maximum inundation depth (left) and maximum flow velocity (right) at	
the entry of the Sassi	. 34
Figure 23 - Hydraulic invariance in the new situation compared to the current situation	. 34
Figure 24 - Pedestrian hazard in current situation in the Sassi	. 35
Figure 25 - Pedestrian hazard in the new situation in the Sassi	. 35
Figure 26 – QGIS window for the set-up of the model for a study area	. 50
Figure 27 - QGIS window for the set-up of the simulation	. 50
Figure 28 - QGIS window for adjustment of the CONDI2 file	. 51
Figure 29 - Schematic representation of the layers of a green roof (Townshend, 2007)	. 54
Figure 30 - Example of (f.i.t.r.) permeable asphalt (Mrugacz, 2017), permeable concrete (New Dawn, 2015), a	3NQ
Figure 21. Schemetic representation of (f Lt r.) a drainage surface cominarmaphic neuroment, and nermaphic	. 57
regule 31 - Schematic representation of (Li.t.r.) a Grainage surface, semi-permeable pavement, and permeable	ле 57
Figure 22 Schematic everyiow of layers of a bio retention system (Shafigue, 2016)	. 57
Figure 32 - Schematic Overview of layers of a bio-recention system (Shanque, 2010)	. 59
Figure 34 - Schematic set-up of a rain barrel rainwater baryesting system (Richmond Vale, 2017)	. 02 6/
Figure $35 - $ Schematic representation of a constructed urban wetland (Urban Green-Blue Grids 2017)	67
Figure 36 - Animated underground detention tank (GRAF 2021)	. 07 69
Figure 37 - Value tree hierarchy: Human wellbeing	70
Figure 38 - Value tree hierarchies: Economic prosperity & Environmental stewardshin	. 71
Figure 39 - Value tree hierarchies, visually representing their compliance with stakeholder interests	. 72
, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,	-

List of Tables

Table 1 – Critical points in Matera	18
Table 2 - Criteria for choosing a flood mitigation measure in Matera	24
Table 3 - Ranking of alternatives	25
Table 4 – MCA and criteria scores for alternatives	26
Table 5 – The standard deviation of the average score of all alternatives for varying uncertainty factors	27
Table 6 - Green roof implementation and performance on criteria	52
Table 7 - Permeable pavement implementation and performance on criteria	54
Table 8 - Bio-retention systems implementation and performance on criteria	57
Table 9 - Retention ponds implementation and performance on criteria	60
Table 10 - Rain barrels implementation and performance on criteria	62
Table 11 - Urban wetlands implementation and performance on criteria	64
Table 12 - Detention tanks implementation and performance on criteria	67
Table 13 - Linking of design requirements to criteria of the MCA	71
Table 14 - Weight of individual criteria	73
Table 15 - Weight of each group of criteria	74
Table 16 - Inundation depth over time for all critical points in the current and the new situation	75
Table 17 - Flow velocity over time for all critical points in the current and the new situation	77
Table 18 – Depth x velocity over time for all critical points in the current and the new situation	80

1. Introduction

Due to climatic changes and human interference in southern Italy, the frequency of severe flood events in the Basilicata region has increased (Bentivenga et al., 2020). This is also the case for Matera, a city in Basilicata that was the European Capital of Culture in 2019 because of an architectural highlight called the Sassi, also known as the cities historical centre (European Commission, 2021). The Sassi and the Park of the Rupestrian Churches of Matera are UNESCO World Heritage of Humanity, because of their architectural history and integration in the surrounding terrain and ecosystem. To preserve this special place, departments have been established that manage maintenance activities and adherence to building regulations that should protect the area (UNESCO, 2021). Because of the protected status of the Sassi, attention for the increased frequency of flood events increased after multiple floods ruined premises in Matera in 2019, by overloading them with murky water (Speak, 2019). Since the floods lead to nuisance and damage in Matera and in particular the Sassi, intervention is necessary to preserve the unique site. Unfortunately, no information about current flood mitigation projects in the area could be found.

1.1. Study area

In Figure 1, the study area is outlined in red. It is limited to the south-eastern part of the city, including the northern part of the Sassi. For this area, a digital elevation model (DEM) is available that has been used for simulation of current flood problems in the area before (Sole et al., 2019), which can be seen in Figure 2. In the DEM also the elevation of buildings is included. The figure shows that the Sassi, in the right corner, is the lowest part of the area. Since runoff will always flow to areas with a lower elevation, it can be explained that the Sassi experiences the highest nuisance due to the floods.



Figure 1 - Matera, study area outlined in red

Figure 2 - Digital Elevation Model (DEM) of the study area

At an altitude of around 400 meters above sea level, the city Matera lies in the Bradano catchment, which has an average precipitation ranging spatially from 300 to 700 mm per year (Canora et al., 2015). The Bradano River lies just outside of the research area, on the eastern side, but it is located in a valley. Therefore, river floods are no issue for the city centre. The climate in the city Matera is moderate, with an average precipitation of almost 600 mm per year and a mean temperature of 15.4 °C (Climate-data.org, n.d.).

1.2. Cause of the problem

The problem that is occurring in Matera, which is increased nuisance by flood events, may be explained by an increase of the frequency of severe pluvial floods and increased impact in the area. The first is affected by both climatic changes and human interference. It can be seen in observational records from the last hundred years that, especially in the last two decades, there is a positive trend in the amount of extreme rainfall (Bentivenga et al., 2020). On top of that, an increasing amount of land is covered by impermeable surfaces, due to urbanization (Bentivenga et al., 2020), see Figure 3. Since the precipitation cannot infiltrate into the subsurface at areas that were permeable previously, runoff is directed into the city. Increased impact in the area is also the result of increased urbanization, since flood events result in more damage in urbanized areas.



Figure 3 – Orthophotos showing the urbanization of Matera in 1994 (left), and 2017 (right) (RSDI Basilicata, 2021)

To solve the problem of increased nuisance by flood events, which is caused by the underlying problems of increased flood frequency and severe impacts, the main causes of these underlying problems (which are increased rainfall and urbanization) should be tackled or mitigated.

1.3. State of the art

1.3.1. Flood inundation modelling

Flood inundation modelling is an extensive area of research that continues to develop each day. In general, a distinction can be made between three different types of methods for this type of modelling, which are empirical methods, hydrodynamic models, and simplified (non-physics-based) methods (Teng et al., 2017). For pluvial flood inundation modelling, 2D hydrodynamic models are often used, which are mathematical models. These models are combined with a DEM of the study area and data of local rainfall events to calculate physical flood characteristics in the area (Guerreiro et al., 2017), often using GIS software.

Examples of 2D hydrodynamic models are TELEMAC 2D, LISFLOOD and HEC-RAS 2D (Teng et al., 2017). These models are comparable to FLORA-2D, another model that has been used more often for the Basilicata region for both pluvial and river flood modelling (Scarpino et al., 2018; Cantisani et al., 2014). FLORA-2D is also a two-dimensional hydrodynamic model, based on the shallow water equations, that focuses specifically on the flow resistance that is caused by vegetation and soil roughness, and it evaluates the surface runoff for paved and unpaved surfaces, the inundation depth, and the discharge in each cell (Cantisani et al., 2014). It does not simulate the effect of the sewerage system. Even though the FLORA-2D model has been used previously in the Basilicata region, there is no notion of it being used to do research involving the evaluation of flood mitigation measures. More information about the working and set-up of the model is presented in Appendix A.

In conclusion, much research about flood events in the Basilicata region has been done so far (a.o. (Cantisani et al., 2014; Sole et al., 2007; Manfreda & Samela, 2019; Bentivenga et al., 2020)). However,

there seems to be little research into measures that might decrease the severity of flood events in the region.

1.3.2. Evaluation of flood mitigation measures

It appears that there is not one leading framework for doing a systematic evaluation of an implemented measure in terms of flood risk reduction. Flood risk is calculated by multiplying the (a) probability of a flood event happening with the (b) impact of that flood event, and when quantifying the impact, damage that is the consequence of the event is often given a monetary value. Casualties are often not included in flood risk assessments, because it is difficult to give a monetary value to a human life, compared to things such as damage to buildings and infrastructure (Pellicani et al., 2018). Factors such as sustainability or social impact are often also not included, for the same reason.

When evaluating the impact of flood mitigation measures on the more physical characteristics of floods, factors that are often taken into account include the geographic coverage of the flood event, the exposure to the flood event of humans, property, and infrastructure, but also the vulnerability of these three to the event and its impact (Armenakis & Nirupama, 2013). These factors indicate that the land use of the flooded area contributes largely to the degree in which floods are perceived as a nuisance. When evaluating the effect of implementing a flood mitigation measure, it is therefore important not only that the flood decreases (either in flood extent, inundation depth, duration of the flood or flow velocity), but also that the decrease occurs at a location that is experiencing a lot of nuisance due to the flood. For example, a flood reduction in a park might reduce the perceived nuisance less than the same flood reduction on the intersection of the main roads in the area.

1.4. Research objective and research questions

The problem in Matera is that people and property experience large nuisance due to an increased frequency in (severe) flood events. To support the problem solving process, the research objective is formulated as follows:

Determine a suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera, and determine how it affects physical flood characteristics in Matera by (i) qualitatively comparing flood mitigation measures and (ii) evaluating the flood reduction effectivity of the most promising measure with the help of the FLORA-2D model by comparing simulation results of the current and the new situation.

To achieve this objective, it has been posed in the form of the main research question:

What is a suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera and how effective is it in reducing physical flood characteristics in Matera?

To answer this question, six sub-questions have been defined as follows:

- 1. What are possible flood mitigation measures?
- 2. Which criteria are important for selecting a flood mitigation measure for Matera?
- 3. Which flood mitigation measure is most desired in Matera?
- 4. What is the flood risk in Matera in the current situation (no flood mitigation measure in place) in terms of physical flood characteristics?
- 5. What is the flood risk in Matera in the new situation (implemented flood mitigation measure) in terms of physical flood characteristics?
- 6. What are the differences in physical flood characteristics in Matera in the new situation compared to the current situation?

The answers to these questions support the formulation a complete answer to the main research question and, eventually, help to achieve the research objective.

1.5. Scope

Since the research had to be carried out in a limited time period and with limited means, the scope of the research project was limited. The effects of this are explained in this section.

1.5.1. Possible flood mitigation measures

In this research, the FLORA-2D model will be used. Even though the model does not take into account the effect of the sewerage system on the flow dynamics, it was still decided to use the model. This is based on the choice to neglect the effect of the drainage system, since the rainfall events that cause the floods are too large to be drained by the system. Because of this, however, flood mitigation measures that are taken into account for this research are limited to measures that do not affect the drainage system, unless their effect can be imitated with a work-around. Besides that, flood mitigation measures are only taken into account for this research if they function as pluvial flood mitigation measures. River or coastal flood mitigation measures are out of the scope of this research, since their function as flood mitigation measure is not effective for pluvial flooding.

1.5.2. Assessment of flood risk

As is explained in section 1.3.2., the assessment of actual flood risk is quite complicated and difficult to do for all aspects that contribute to the total flood risk. Therefore this research will focus only on the changes in the maximum inundation depth, the maximum flow velocity, and the maximum value for the product of the inundation depth and flow velocity (further called 'DV'). In this case, the maximum value is for each cell in the study area the highest value that is measured for the entire simulation period. The decision is made to use these characteristics because they are given as output by FLORA-2D, and because they show the physical state of the flood event well.

1.5.3. Simulation of flooding

Due to the limited time that is available for this research project, simulations will be done for only one (historic) rainfall event. Also, no calibration or comparison with real life data will be done to assess the reliability of the simulation output due to lack of data availability and limited time. However, it is assumed that the model gives reliable results since it has been used for research on the study area before (Sole et al., 2019).

1.6. Reading guide

This report consists of five main chapters. The current chapter, chapter 1, includes an introduction to the context of the research. Chapter 2 describes the methods that have been used to carry out the research, whereas chapter 3 presents the results. Chapter 4 includes a discussion of the results. Chapter 5, lastly, provides conclusions for the research questions and recommendations for further research.

2. Methods

The basic set-up of the research consists of two parts, which are (i) determining which flood mitigation measure is most suitable for reducing floods at Matera and (ii) evaluating the effectiveness of the measure in reducing physical flood characteristics. The first part is done by conducting a multi-criteria analysis (MCA), whereas the second part is done by simulating the implementation of the most suitable measure in FLORA-2D via QGIS and comparing output of the model for the current and the new situation. This chapter explains the methodology that has been used to get to an answer to the research (sub-)questions, of which the first three help to achieve the first part of the research, and the last three contribute to the achievement of the second part of the research.

2.1. Schematic overview of research approach

In Figure 4, a schematic overview of the research approach is given, based on the theory described by (Verschuren & Doorewaard, 2010). In the figure, the blue box indicates the objective. The orange boxes indicate simulation results, the white boxes indicate technical preparation and model settings, and the red boxes indicate theoretical and non-technical aspects. The text between the white boxes is an indication of the various types of data that were needed to set up the model for the study area. The double-sided arrows indicate that there was an interaction between two boxes, the single-sided arrows indicate that one object was necessary before the other object could be achieved.



Figure 4 - Schematic overview of research approach

In words, Figure 4 can be explained as follows: at the start of the research project mostly literature review was done, which formed the basis for both the criteria of the MCA and information about flood mitigation measures. The products of the literature review, which were the set-up of an MCA and input of the MCA in the form of flood mitigation measures and their performance on the criteria of the MCA, were combined. After this step, the focus shifted towards modelling of the study area. Both a reference situation (the current situation) and the new situation have been simulated, in which the new situation included the (simulated) implementation of a flood mitigation measure that scored best in the MCA. As a last step the simulation results of both scenarios were compared to formulate a conclusion that achieves the research objective.

2.2. Set-up MCA – Alternatives (Q1)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question *'what are possible flood mitigation measures'*. The measures that are given as an answer to this question served as alternatives for the MCA that was conducted to formulate an answer to research sub-question 3.

When creating an overview of the flood mitigation measures, firstly literature review was done on flood mitigation measures by searching in Google Scholar for general terms such as 'flood mitigation

measure', 'pluvial flooding mitigation', 'urban flooding mitigation'. Publications that were retrieved by these terms were scanned for relevance in the title, abstract, and key words. After this, more specific searches were done with terms such as 'Nature Based Solution', 'flood reduction effectivity', and the name of specific measures that seemed promising in other publications. Eventually, 23 publications were used to construct a general overview of measures for pluvial flood mitigation, with for each measure: general information about its workings, its performance in runoff and peak flow reduction, general advantages and disadvantages, and a suggestion for how to simulate implementation of the measure in the model. This information and references to the publications are given in Appendix B. Later, this general overview was expanded with the performance of each measure on the criteria of the MCA. The methodology for this is explained in section 2.4.

2.3. Set-up MCA – Criteria (Q2)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question 'which criteria are important for choosing a flood mitigation measure for Matera'.

A flood mitigation measure that is suitable for Matera, must comply with the interests of all the parties that are affected by construction and/or implementation of the measure. Criteria that specify these interests are therefore necessary, and they should be as comprehensive and carefully weighted as possible.

2.3.1. Stakeholder analysis

To get a list of criteria, first a stakeholder analysis was done to get an overview of the parties that are involved, as well as their interests and power position (i.e. their influence in the decision process). An extensive stakeholder analysis about crisis management (regarding flood events) in Matera has been done for ongoing research (R. Albano, personal communication, April 29, 2021). This stakeholder analysis was taken as a start for the stakeholder analysis of this research project. Because the stakeholders play a role in assessing weights to the criteria, they were categorised in groups with similar interests and power positions. The groups made the process more insightful and easier to manage. To each group a score was given, based on its interests and power position. The interests of each group were given a score similar to the common score of the group. This was used in a later step to calculate the relative weights of the criteria. The left part of Figure 5 shows a flowchart of these steps, including an example of a stakeholder (residents).

To assign a score to the stakeholder groups, a power-interest grid was made. This power-interest grid was made by placing the different categories of stakeholders on a position in the grid according to their level of interest and their level of power. This helped in getting insight into how important it is to take the interests of the various groups into account. The four quarters of the grid can be categorised as subjects (low power & high interest), players (high power & high interest), crowd (low power & low interest), and context setters (high power and low interest). The players are the most important group, their interests should be taken into account at all times and they should be closely involved in the process. The subjects should be kept informed at all times, but are slightly less important to satisfy. The context setters are important to satisfy as well, but their interests in the project are lower than for subjects and players. Lastly, the crowd plays a minor role because of their low interest and low power. They should be informed from time to time, and if their interests are complied to that is good, but not ultimately necessary. If it is assumed that there are no conflicting interests, the order of importance in satisfying stakeholders is (i) players, (ii) subjects, (iii) context setters, (iv) crowd.

2.3.2. Value tree hierarchies

Taking the interests of all stakeholder groups together, value tree hierarchies were set up (van de Poel, 2013). Value tree hierarchies consist of three levels that are made more context specific on each level

(values \rightarrow norms \rightarrow design requirements), which makes it possible to get a clear overview of the relation between the interests of all stakeholders. The lowest level, design requirements, are assessable, which means they can be measured in some way. Similar design requirements can contribute to the achievement of multiple (different) norms, and even to the achievement of multiple values (van de Poel, 2013). Not all stakeholder interests were directly formulated as design requirement, but the structure of value tree hierarchies facilitated that also interests that were formulated as values or norms were specified into design requirements. This ensured that, eventually, the criteria would be a representation of all of the stakeholder interests.

The design requirements formed the basis of the criteria, so a score was given to them which was eventually used for the calculation of the weights of the criteria. This score was based on the scores that were assigned to the interests of the stakeholders in the previous step. Because interests could be either formulated as a value, norm, or design requirement, this was a complicated task. If an interest was formulated as a design requirement, that design requirement got the score of that stakeholder interest added to its total score. If an interest was formulated as a norm, all the design requirements that contributed to achievement of that norm got the score of that interest added to their total score. If an interest was formulated as a value, similarly all the design requirements that contributed to achievement of the norms) got the score of the interest added to their total score. The middle part of Figure 5 shows a flowchart of these steps, including an example about the design requirements that were linked to one of the interests of a stakeholder (residents).

2.3.3. Criteria

The design requirements that were set up in the previous step were formulated in a way that they formed a criterion. Criteria that were very similar were taken together as one new criterion, formulated in a way that it linked to all the design requirements that corresponded to the previous similar criteria. After this initial set-up of criteria, they were assessed on completeness, redundancy, operationality, mutual independence of preference, double counting, and impacts that occur over time (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2009). If necessary, the criteria were reformulated to perform better on these aspects. After that, the criteria were categorised in groups, based on overarching themes in the criteria.

As a final step, weights were assessed to the criteria. For this, the scores of the design requirements were used in combination with the analytical hierarchy process (AHP). The AHP is based on a comparison between all criteria, which eventually gave them a value relative to each other (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2009). Before the AHP could be applied, the scores of the design requirements were linked to the criteria. This was done by adding the scores of all design requirements that were represented by a criterion. These added scores formed the total (absolute) score of that criterion.

Once all criteria had an absolute score, the AHP was applied by setting up a matrix for each group of criteria. This matrix included the absolute score of each criterion in the group relative to the scores of the other criteria in the group. The average of each row was calculated and divided by the sum of the row averages of the criteria in the group. These values were the weights of each criterion relative to the same way. The absolute score of a group was the sum of the absolute scores of all the criteria in that group. By using this method, all the criteria were assigned a weight relative to each other.

The right part of Figure 5 shows a flowchart of these last steps of setting up the criteria.

Bachelor Thesis Flood Mitigation Matera - A.V. (Lieke) van Haastregt



Figure 5 - Flowchart of the process of establishing weighted criteria

2.4. Conducting MCA (Q3)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question *'which flood mitigation measure is most desired in Matera'*.

2.4.1. Calculation of ranking

To conduct the MCA, the performance of all the alternative measures were assessed on each criterion. This assessment was based on literature that was found for the first question, combined with other sources and assumptions. The sources that were added, were found by googling targeted key words (e.g. '[flood mitigation measure]', 'maintenance', 'construction costs', 'water quality', etc.). They include papers, reports, news-sites, informational sites (of companies), blogs, and various other types of websites. The information that was taken from these publications and references to them are presented in Appendix B. The performance assessment was needed to calculate the actual performance scores of the alternatives.

The performance scores depend on the type of MCA that is used. For this research, the decision was made to use an MCA based on the AHP, since it gives a little more room for uncertainties and allows for relative comparison of the performances (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2009). Based on the literature that was found, an assessment score was given to the performance of each alternative on each criterion. This score could be a value that came directly from literature, or it could be based on a verbal classification. After a score was given for each criterion and each measure, the AHP was applied in the same way as described in the previous section, only the relative score of the performance of an alternative for a group was not the sum of the absolute performance scores of the criteria in that group, but the sum of the weighted performance scores in that group.

2.4.2. Sensitivity analysis

After the ranking was calculated, a sensitivity analysis was done to determine how much uncertainties in the performance assessment and the stakeholder weight allocation affected the ranking.

The sensitivity analysis of the stakeholder weight allocation was done by changing the scores that were given to the interests of the stakeholder groups to different ratios, to see if this affected the ranking of the alternatives. The different score ratios were 5 scenarios, where one was the scenario that was actually used for the rest of the research, while the other scenarios were a value of 10 for one of the stakeholder groups and a value of 1 for all the other stakeholder groups (e.g. 10:1:1:1).

The sensitivity analysis of the performance assessment was done by creating a pessimistic and an optimistic scenario and checking how much these scenarios changed the final alternative scores. The pessimistic scenario was created by subtracting 10% from the assessment scores that were most uncertain (no literature available), subtracting 7.5% from the assessment scores that were based on an assumption which was based on 1 source, and by subtracting 5% from the assessment scores that were based on just 1 source (no assumption made). The optimistic scenario was created by adding the same percentages in the same cases, instead of subtracting them. For each alternative, the pessimistic and optimistic scenario were applied, after which the alternative scores for all alternatives were calculated. Only one scenario was applied at a time, giving 14 different alternative scores. In this way, for all alternatives the average, minimum, and maximum score could be found, as well as a standard deviation from the average score.

2.5. Evaluating current situation (Q4)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question 'what is the flood risk in Matera in the current situation (no flood mitigation measure in place) in terms of physical flood characteristics'. To set up the model for the study area, an urban basin characterization and rainfall data were needed. More information about FLORA-2D is given in Appendix A.

2.5.1. Urban basin characterization

The urban basin characterization was made by categorising the surface of cells in the study area as paved areas, buildings, semi-permeable areas, or green areas, creating a QGIS shapefile. This categorisation was based on data from RSDI (Regional Spatial Data Infrastructure) Basilicata, which provided QGIS shapefiles of different types of land-use (RSDI Basilicata, 2021), and visual assessment of the area via Google Street View and Google Maps. Besides this shapefile, a DEM was used. The DEM that was used for this research project has a resolution of 2x2 meters, and it was already available from previous research, as explained in section 1.1. A value for the Manning's roughness coefficient was given to each surface type, being 0.055 for paved areas and buildings, 0.06 for semi-permeable areas, and 0.07 for green areas (R. Albano & L. Mancusi, personal communication, 2021).

In the study area, there were certain locations that were of more interest than other locations. These locations are called critical points. They could be important infrastructure, buildings with a high social or cultural importance (e.g. a hospital or the Sassi), or points with an expected high inundation depth. The critical points that are presented in Table 1 were pinpointed in the map of the study area as HTEM (H-temporal) points, which means that for these locations output was given in the form of graphs showing inundation depth, flow velocity, and the DV over time.

Street	Location	Interest			
1. Viale Aldo Moro	Intersection main roads	Important infrastructure			
2. Viale Aldo Moro	Entryway hospital	Important infrastructure			
3. Via Lucana	Bus station and intersection near Sassi	Important infrastructure			
4. Via Giuseppe Gattini	Police station	Important infrastructure			
5. Piazza della Visitazione	Parking lot central station/court	Expected high inundation			
6. Piazza Vittorio Veneto	Largest entryway Sassi	Expected high inundation			
7. Via D'Addozio	Northern outlet of Sassi	Expected high inundation			
8. Via Madonna delle Virtù	Southern outlet of Sassi	Expected high inundation			
9. Via Fiorentini	Main road of Sassi	High cultural value			

Table 1 – Critical points in Matera

2.5.2. Rainfall data

A hyetograph of a 4:15 hour rainfall event that caused a large flood in 2019 was available from previous research (Sole et al., 2019). The rainfall in the hyetograph was used as rainfall for each cell in the study area, and linked to the surface type that was given in the shapefile, for which the process is explained in Appendix A. Since permeability of the soil is not simulated by FLORA-2D, its effect was taken into account by subtraction of the rainfall that can infiltrate the surface type, which means that only the effective rainfall is used as input for the model. To calculate the effective rainfall, the paved areas and buildings were set to have similar permeability, with a runoff curve number (CN) of 98. The semi-permeable areas were set to have a CN of 86, and the green areas were set to have a CN of 75. These curve numbers are the same as for previous research in the study area, since the surface types also remained unchanged (Sole et al., 2019). Based on these curve numbers, the effective rainfall was calculated with the SCS curve number method to be used as input for the model. This resulted in the effective rainfall for each surface type as presented in the hyetographs in Figure 6.



Effective rainfall per 15 minutes for each surface type

Figure 6 - Hyetographs of effective rainfall for each surface type

2.5.3. Model output

As output of the simulation, three maps were created that present for each cell in the study area for the entire simulation period the maximum inundation depth, the maximum flow velocity, and the maximum DV. Also, for each critical point graphs were created that present the inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV over time. The maps and graphs together were used to interpret the flood risk in the study area.

2.6. Evaluating new situation with implemented measure (Q5)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question 'what is the flood risk in Matera in the new situation (implemented flood mitigation measure) in terms of physical flood characteristics'. To adjust the model so that implementation of a flood mitigation measure was simulated, an updated urban basin characterization and updated rainfall data were needed.

2.6.1. Urban basin characterization

The difference between the new situation and the current situation was that in the current situation no flood mitigation measure was present or simulated, while in the new situation the implementation of a flood mitigation measure was simulated. For this, the urban basin characterization needed to be

adjusted. Since the adjustments depended on the flood mitigation measure that was selected, the method for adjusting the urban basin characterization is described for each measure in Appendix B.

2.6.2. Rainfall data

For the rainfall data, the effective rainfall remained unchanged for the four surface types that were used in the current situation. For the areas that were covered by the bio-retention systems, it was altered. Since this alteration depended on the flood mitigation measure that was selected, the method for altering the rainfall data is described for each measure in Appendix B.

2.6.3. Model output

The same method has been used to read the output of the model as for the current situation, which is described in section 2.5.3.

2.7. Comparison of new situation with reference situation (Q6)

This section describes the methodology that was followed to formulate an answer to the question 'what are the differences in physical flood characteristics in Matera in the new situation compared to the current situation'.

To get a clear view of the changes that occured in the new situation compared to the old situation, maps were created in QGIS that present for each cell the change in the maximum inundation depth and the maximum flow velocity in the new situation with regards to the current situation. The change in the maximum DV is also presented in a map by calculating the hydraulic invariance for each cell, using Equation 1. The hydraulic invariance is a means of checking whether a characteristic has changed by showing the relative differences between the current situation and the new situation (Pappalardo et al., 2017).

$$Hydraulic invariance = \frac{DV_{new}}{DV_{current}} - 1$$
 Eq. 1

The decision was made to show the hydraulic invariance of the maximum DV, since the DV is a characteristic that can be used to estimate pedestrian hazard (Russo et al., 2013).

For urban floods, a DV of 1.51 m/s can be categorised as a low hazard for pedestrians, whereas a DV of 1.56 m/s can already be categorised as a medium hazard. A DV of 1.88 m/s or higher can be categorised as a high hazard. In this, a low hazard is understood as an event in which the flow conditions cause anxiety for pedestrians, or another form of feeling unsafe. A medium hazard occurs when the flow conditions make a pedestrian lose stability significantly (moving unsteadily), and a high hazard occurred when the flow conditions make pedestrians lose stability to the degree where they can no longer be stable in a standing or walking position (Russo, Gómez, & Macchione, 2013). It must be noted that the values that are mentioned are averages, since they are affected by the length and weight of an individual. To get an image of the pedestrian hazard in the study area, maps were created that show the hazard level in each cell as well, both for the current and the new situation.

All maps, as well as the graphs that were created for the critical points in both situations, were visually inspected to interpret the differences in flood risk for both situations.

3. Results

Based on the methodology as described in chapter 2, results were retrieved that substantiate answers to the research sub-questions. In the following sections, these results are presented.

3.1. Possible flood mitigation measures in Matera (Q1)

The cause of increased urban flooding in many cities is an increase in the frequency and severity of rainfall, in combination with an increase in impermeable area. Since it is not a feasible option to reduce the rainfall intensity while dealing with this issue, there are two options for reducing floods.

The first option focusses on quick drainage of runoff, which is done by using grey infrastructure, such as storm sewers, gutters, and conventional drainage systems (Huang et al., 2020; Lashford et al., 2019). The second option focusses on going back to pre-development conditions in the area, or in other words: increasing permeability of the surface. This can be done by using so-called nature-based solutions (NBS), that aim to improve water related issues by working with features that are present naturally in ecosystems while at the same time enhancing environmental, economic and social aspects (Oral et al., 2020).

Because grey infrastructure does not seem to mitigate urban floods sufficiently, an increasing amount of research is done on NBS (Huang et al., 2020). Examples of NBS are green roofs, bio-retention systems (also called rain gardens), permeable pavement, and water storage or retention ponds. In the field of NBS, different terminology is used. Terms like Low Impact Development (LID), Best Management Practice (BMP), Water Sensitive Urban Design (WSUD), Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS), Green Infrastructure (GI), and Sponge Cities are used often to refer to NBS (Huang et al., 2020). For most NBS it is the case that an increased implementation area results in a higher decrease in runoff.

Since most grey infrastructure measures cannot be implemented in FLORA2D or QGIS, the measures that are used as alternatives in the MCA will be mostly NBS. In this section, the characteristics of the selected measures are shortly described. In Appendix B, a more detailed elaboration of each measure is given, as well as their performance on the criteria of the MCA. The measures that have been looked into are: (1) green roofs, (2) permeable pavement, (3) bio-retention systems, (4) retention ponds, (5) rain barrels, (6) urban wetlands, and (7) detention tanks.

3.1.1. Green roofs

A green roof is a system that covers flat roofs with a few layers that together form a rainwater absorption system, to decrease the runoff from impermeable surfaces on buildings. The layers are roughly a roof deck layer, a medium layer that drains and filters the water, and a vegetation layer.

3.1.2. Permeable pavement

Permeable pavement is pavement that lets rainfall infiltrate in the surface. Generally, pavement is part of the large impermeable surface area that is a factor in the cause of increased pluvial flooding in urban environments. Permeable pavement might thus help to reduce runoff and flood peak flow (Zhu et al., 2019). There are different types of permeable pavement, with various degrees of permeability (Hu et al., 2018; Zhu et al., 2019). It is also widely applicable, for example it can be used for sidewalks, roads that are not used by heavy traffic, or for parking spaces (Costa et al., 2021; Zhu et al., 2019).

3.1.3. Bio-retention systems

A bio-retention system, also called rain garden, is a vegetated landscaped depression, that collects runoff from impervious areas around it. It consists of several layers, among which are a weir to prevent overflow, a vegetation layer, filter layer, transition layer, and a drainage layer. Generally, bio-retention systems are relatively small (smaller than 2 ha) (Shafique, 2016). A bio-retention system lets rainfall

infiltrate on the spot, and additionally allows runoff from rainfall in nearby areas to infiltrate. Also evapotranspiration plays a role in reducing total runoff and peak flow.

3.1.4. Retention ponds

A retention pond is a basin that receives runoff from surrounding areas during rainfall events, which is eventually drained via multiple outlets. Retention ponds are designed to reduce peak flow, or provide lag time to prevent peak flows in streams that drain the runoff eventually (Hancock et al., 2010).

3.1.5. Rain barrels

Rain barrels are a means of rainwater harvesting. They are installed so that they harvest the runoff from roofs (Akter et al., 2020). When rain barrels are full and the water is not used, they release the water, which is then drained through the conventional drainage system (Freni & Liuzzo, 2019).

3.1.6. Urban wetlands

An urban wetland is a piece of land that is often low-lying and characterised by a very humid environment. This means that it consists of hydric soils, hydrophytic vegetation and water (Palta et al., 2017). As a flood mitigation measure, an urban wetland is comparable to a combination of a bio-retention system and a retention pond.

3.1.7. Detention tanks

A detention tank is a large underground tank that stores water when the conventional drainage system is over-occupied with draining the runoff from large rainfall events. To be effective, tanks can have a volume as large as 2800 m³ (Li et al., 2019).

3.2. Set-up of criteria and valuation of criteria (Q2)

In this section, the results are divided into two parts: the stakeholder analysis, which consists of a stakeholder (interest) overview and a power-interest grid, and the criteria and their weights.

3.2.1. Stakeholder analysis

The stakeholders that have been taken into account have been divided into four groups, based on shared interests and the role the stakeholders have in the process of choosing a flood mitigation measure. Figure 7 shows the stakeholders divided into local authorities, local communities, businesses, and civil societies, based on the stakeholder analysis that is mentioned in section 2.3.1., together with their interests. In the overview of stakeholders, the national authorities have been left out. This was done because they generally leave projects such as the implementation of local flood mitigation measures to the local authorities. The groups include all stakeholders that play a significant role in the decision-making process. The numbers in the bottom boxes of Figure 7 correspond with the numbers in the power-interest grid in Figure 8.

In Figure 8, the power-interest grid is presented for the flood mitigation project in Matera. The four quartiles have been coloured to represent which group of stakeholders represents the quartiles most (e.g. the upper right quartile is only represented by local authority stakeholders, so that quartile is given the same colour as the stakeholder group in Figure 7). Based on this division and the theory that is described in section 2.3.1., the order of prioritising the interests of the stakeholder groups should be (i) local authorities, (ii) local communities/businesses, (iii) civil societies. The local authorities are assigned a score of 4, the local communities and businesses are assigned a score of 3, and the civil societies are assigned a score of 2, to represent the difference in importance of the stakeholder group interests. This means that the score ratio is 4:3:3:2.



Figure 7 - Stakeholders and their interests, grouped



Figure 8 - Power-interest grid of stakeholders in the flood mitigation project in Matera

3.2.2. Criteria and weights

The stakeholder interests have been transformed into three value tree hierarchies, with on top the values 'human wellbeing', 'economic prosperity', and 'environmental stewardship'. The value tree hierarchies form the base of the criteria for the MCA, but since they are only an intermediate step in the process of forming criteria, they are presented in Appendix C, together with the process that links them to the criteria. Appendix C also includes a visual explanation of the weight allocation and calculation, which is done according to the method that is described in section 2.3.

The criteria and their weights are shown in Table 2, grouped into five categories, which are prevention of flooding, maintenance of the area, enhancement of living area, construction of the measure, and sustainability of the measure. To ensure that the criteria are qualitatively good, they have been checked for completeness, redundancy, operationality, mutual independence of preference, double counting, and time span, as described in section 2.3.3.

Table 2 - Criteria for choosing a flood mitigation measure in Matera

#	Criterion	Weight
Gro	up A: Prevention of flooding	0.37
1 2	Measure reduces total runoff for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0.10
1.d	At infrastructure	0.19
1 h	Measure reduces total runoff for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0.14
1.0	At residential areas & facilities	0.14
1 c	Measure reduces total runoff for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0.17
1.0	At the Sassi	0.17
2 a	Measure reduces peak flow for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0.19
2.0	At infrastructure	0.15
2 h	Measure reduces peak flow for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0 14
2.0	At residential areas & facilities	0.14
20	Measure reduces peak flow for rainfall events with a return period of 30 years:	0.17
2.0	At the Sassi	0.17
Gro	up B: Maintenance of area	0.35
3.a	Measure does not complicate maintenance of infrastructure	0.41
3.b	Measure does not complicate maintenance of residential areas & facilities	0.22
3.c	Measure does not complicate maintenance of the Sassi	0.34
4.	Measure has long lifespan	0.03
Gro	up C: Enhancement of living area	0.09
5.	Measure adds blue and/or green area	0.41
6.	Measure adds place for recreation	0.33
7.	Measure reduces pollution of water	0.26
Gro	up D: Construction of measure	0.14
8.	Construction of measure has low impact on its surroundings (during construction)	0.70
9.	Construction of measure has a short duration	0.15
10.	Costs of construction materials of measure are low	0.15
Gro	up E: Sustainability	0.04
11.	Measure can be constructed with circular materials	0.33
12.	Measure requires little energy to function	0.33
13.	Measure enhances the existing ecosystem, or keeps it intact at least	0.33

Preferred flood mitigation measure in Matera (Q3) 3.3.

In this section, firstly a ranking is presented that results from the MCA. Secondly, a sensitivity analysis is shown that has been conducted taking into account two factors. These factors are the values that have been allocated to the stakeholder groups in the stakeholder analysis phase, and the performance assessment of the alternatives for all criteria.

3.3.1. Final ranking

Based on the results as described in section 3.1. and 3.2., the measures have been ranked on suitability for implementation as flood mitigation measure in Matera. Their performance scores on the criteria have been multiplied with the corresponding weights, which has resulted in the ranking as shown in Table 3. A table with the performance scores per criterion can be seen in Table 4 on the next page.

Rank	Alternative	Score
1.	Bio-retention systems	71
2.	2. Urban wetlands	
3.	Rain barrels	60
4.	Detention tanks	55
5.	5. Green roofs	
6.	6. Retention ponds	
7. Permeable pavement		35

It can be seen that bio-retention systems are the most suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera. This is mostly because bio-retention systems perform well on flood prevention and sustainability, and because their characteristics are performing above average on maintenance, enhancement of the living area, and construction, compared to the other alternatives.

Another promising measure is an urban wetland, which performs almost as well as bio-retention systems. Other measures that are relatively suitable for Matera are rain barrels and detention tanks. Green roofs, retention ponds, and permeable pavement score lowest, mostly because of their limited performance on flood prevention. Besides that, a disadvantage of green roofs and permeable pavement is that they need to be implemented on a large scale, which takes a longer construction time, often leads to higher construction costs, and generally requires increased maintenance.

3.3.2. Sensitivity analysis - stakeholder group values

The sensitivity of the scores of the alternatives is presented in Figure 9. The alternative scores are plotted, dependent on the ratios that have been described in section 2.4.2. The ratio does not seem to have a big effect on the ranking, since for all scenarios, only two changes were noticed in the ranking. When the interests of local communities were valued most, permeable pavement (Alt 2) moved up one place (to #6), and when the interests of businesses were valued most, permeable pavement moved up two places (to #5).

3.3.3. Sensitivity analysis - performance assessment

The average, minimum and maximum score for each alternative are shown in Figure 10. In Table 5 the standard deviation of each alternative is presented, which is calculated based on the scores of a pessimistic and an optimistic scenario for the reliability of the performance assessment for all alternatives. These are 14 scores in total, as explained in section 2.4.2.

In almost all uncertainty scenarios the ranking stays the same. The only two exceptions are for alternative 3 and 6, and for alternative 2 and 4. The scores of alternative 3 and 6 are very close, and they can switch place in the ranking in the most pessimistic scenario for alternative 3, and for the most

Table 4 – MCA and criteria scores for alternatives

	Alternative 1		Alternative 2		Alternative 3		Alternative 4		Alternative 5		Alternative 6		Alternative 7	
	Greer	n roofs	Perm pave	eable ment	Bioret syst	ention ems	Retention ponds		Rain barrels		Urban wetlands		Detention tanks	
Criteria	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.	Perfor.	Weigh.
A: Prevention of flooding	5.3	2.0	47.3	17.5	98.7	36.5	0.9	0.3	60.2	22.2	98.2	36.3	77.5	28.6
1a – Runoff reduction infrastructure	0	0.0	79	15.1	97	18.5	3	0.5	82	15.6	100	19.0	95	18.0
1b – Runoff reduction residential areas	18	2.6	34	4.7	97	13.5	0	0.0	82	11.3	100	13.9	95	13.2
1c – Runoff reduction Sassi	0	0.0	36	6.1	97	16.7	3	0.4	82	14.1	100	17.1	95	16.3
2a – Peak flow reduction infrastructure	3	0.7	59	11.2	100	19.0	0	0.0	38	7.3	96	18.3	60	11.4
2b – Peak flow reduction residential areas	11	1.5	32	4.5	100	13.9	0	0.0	38	5.3	96	13.4	60	8.4
2c – Peak flow reduction Sassi	3	0.6	32	5.6	100	17.1	0	0.0	38	6.6	96	16.5	60	10.3
B: Maintenance of area	65.0	23.0	39.5	14.0	60.8	21.5	60.3	21.3	69.1	24.5	60.3	21.3	61.1	21.6
3a – Added maintenance infrastructure	100	S41.2	0	0.0	100	41.2	100	41.2	100	41.2	100	41.2	100	41.2
3b – Added maintenance residential areas	20	4.4	100	22.1	10	2.2	10	2.2	50	11.1	10	2.2	0	0.0
3c – Added maintenance Sassi	50	16.8	50	16.8	50	16.8	50	16.8	50	16.8	50	16.8	50	16.8
4 – Life span measure	82	2.5	18	0.5	18	0.5	0	0.0	0	0.0	0	0.0	100	3.0
C: Enhancement of living area	87.5	7.9	17.7	1.6	47.9	4.3	30.0	2.7	0.0	0.0	49.8	4.5	12.9	1.2
5 – Added green/blue area	100	41.0	12	4.8	10	4.1	17	7.1	0	0.0	10	4.1	0	0.0
6 – Added recreational area	100	33.3	0	0.0	60	20.0	35	11.6	0	0.0	60	20.0	0	0.0
7 – Water pollution reduction	51	13.2	50	12.9	93	23.8	44	11.3	0	0.0	100	25.7	50	12.9
D: Construction of measure	50.1	7.2	1.4	0.2	34.1	4.9	55.0	7.9	80.2	11.5	32.0	4.6	20.5	2.9
8 – Impact of construction on surroundings	71	50.0	0	0.0	43	30.0	36	25.0	100	70.0	36	25.0	29	20.0
9 – Duration of construction	0	0.0	7	1.1	19	2.9	100	15.0	5	0.7	31	4.6	3	0.5
10 – Costs of construction materials	0	0.0	2	0.3	8	1.2	100	15.0	63	9.5	15	2.3	0	0.0
E: Sustainability	59.5	2.6	31.0	1.4	78.6	3.4	78.6	3.4	50.0	2.2	83.3	3.6	21.4	0.9
11 – Circularity of construction materials	64	21.4	29	9.5	100	33.3	100	33.3	100	33.3	100	33.3	0	0.0
12 – Energy required by measure	50	16.7	50	16.7	50	16.7	50	16.7	50	16.7	50	16.7	50	16.7
13 – Enhancement of ecosystem	64	21.4	14	4.8	86	28.6	86	28.6	0	0.0	100	33.3	14	4.8
Total score	42.6		34.6		70.6		35	5.7	60.3		70.3		55.3	

optimistic scenario for alternative 6. The scores of alternative 2 and 4 are very close as well. However, they do not switch place in the ranking, since the scenarios with a low score for alternative 4 give a score for alternative 2 that is even lower, and the scenarios with a high score for alternative 2 give a score for alternative 4 that is higher.



Sensitivity of alternative scores to stakeholder group value

Alternatives and their exact score per ratio

Figure 9 - Sensitivity of alternative scores to stakeholder group value ratio





Alternatives and their exact score

Table 5 – The standard deviation of the average score of all alternatives for varying uncertainty factors

Alternative	Standard deviation
1	0.45
2	0.41
3	0.62
4	0.36
5	0.37
6	0.55
7	0.71

Figure 10 - Minimum, maximum, and average alternative score for varying uncertainty factors

3.4. Flood risk in Matera without measure implemented (Q4)

This section presents the urban basin characterization for the current situation, as well as the output of the model for the current situation.

3.4.1. Urban basin characterization current situation

As explained in section 2.5., first an urban basin characterization was made. The urban basin characterization includes a classification of homogeneous surface areas (see Figure 11), a DEM, and an identification of the critical points in the study area (also presented in Figure 11). In Figure 11, semipermeable areas are understood to be areas that are not paved, but are also not covered fully by vegetation. Green areas are understood to be areas that are fully covered by vegetation.



Figure 11 - Map with surface area types in the study area in the current situation

3.4.2. Maximum inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV current situation

Figure 12, 13, and 14 show, for the entire study area in the current situation, the maximum inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV for the entire simulation period (4:15 hours, as long as rainfall occurs in the event). The right side of each figure shows a close-up of the Sassi. The inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV in the current situation over time at all critical points are presented in Appendix D, since they do not show an overview of the area as clear as the maps.

The figures show that the Via Fiorentini (main road in the Sassi) and the Via Vincenzo Cappelluti (connecting road between the intersection of the main roads of Matera and the entrance of the Sassi) experience the highest flow velocity and DV. Those same roads, as well as the north-eastern section of the study area, experience the highest inundation depth.



Figure 12 - Maximum inundation depth for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi



Figure 13 - Maximum flow velocity for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi



Figure 14 - Maximum DV for the current situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi

3.5. Flood risk in Matera with measure implemented (Q5)

This section presents the urban basin characterization for the new situation, as well as the output of the model for the new situation.

3.5.1. Urban basin characterization for new situation

For the urban basin characterization of the new situation, alterations have been made to the homogeneous areas shapefile and to the DEM according to the method as described in Appendix B. Since the bio-retention systems were the best scoring alternative, suitable locations for the implementation of the systems have been appointed based on visual inspection of the homogeneous areas shapefile, the DEM, Google Street View, and Google Maps. The most ideal locations for bio-retention systems have an undeveloped surface area with a low elevation and a soft soil (Shafique, 2016). Based on mostly the first two, this has resulted in the locations as indicated on the updated map of homogeneous areas, which can be seen in Figure 15. The DEM has been altered by -0.5 meter at all cells that are covered by a bio-retention system, so that the system can receive runoff of surrounding areas, as explained in Appendix B, Table 8. The elevation of the system located at the intersection of the Via Lucana (critical point 3) has been altered by -1.5 meter, since the surface of that area is a meter higher than the surrounding area in the current situation. The Manning's coefficient for the new surface type was set at 0.07, similar to that of green areas.



Figure 15 - Map of homogeneous surfaces in the study area in the new situation

3.5.2. Maximum inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV new situation

Figure 16, 17, and 18 show, for the entire study area in the new situation, the maximum inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV for the entire simulation period (4:15 hours). The right side of each figure shows a close-up of the characteristic in the Sassi. Appendix D shows the inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV in the new situation over time at all critical points.

The figures show that the Via Fiorentini (main road in the Sassi) and the Via Vincenzo Cappelluti (connecting road between the intersection of the main roads of Matera and the entrance of the Sassi) experience the highest flow velocity and DV. Those same roads, as well as the north-eastern section

of the study area, experience the highest inundation depth. In Figure 16, it can be seen that the areas that are covered by a bio-retention system have a relatively large inundation depth. This is because pooling occurs in those areas, the elevation is lower so runoff of surrounding areas is collected. The model does not simulate infiltration, which is why after simulation a relatively high inundation depth can be seen in the output.



Figure 16 - Maximum inundation depth for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi



Figure 17 - Maximum flow velocity for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi



Figure 18 – Maximum DV for the new situation in the complete study area, and close up in the Sassi

3.6. Comparison of flood risk in Matera before and after implementation of measure (Q6)

This section presents the changes in maximum inundation depth and flow velocity, as well as the hydraulic invariance and the change in hazard for pedestrians.

3.6.1. Change in maximum inundation depth

Figure 19 shows the change in maximum inundation depth. Figure 22 shows a close-up of the maximum inundation depth at the entry of the Sassi, which is indicated by the red box in Figure 19. It can be seen in Figure 19 that the maximum inundation depth at the locations of bio-retention systems has increased largely, while in surrounding areas and locations downstream of the systems it has decreased. This is especially the case for the Via Vincenzo Cappelluti (connecting road between the intersection of the main roads and the entry of the Sassi), and for the north-eastern section of the study area. Runoff from the Via Vincenzo Cappelluti contributes most to the inflow of runoff to the Sassi, but even though the maximum inundation depth at this road and just before the entry of the Sassi has decreased, the upstream part of the Via Fiorentini (main road in the Sassi) has an increase in maximum inundation depth. However, further downstream on this road still a decrease in maximum inundation depth can be seen. The reason for the increase at the entry is unknown.



Figure 19 - Change in maximum inundation depth in the new situation compared to the current situation

The inundation depth over time at critical point number 8, which is located about halfway down on the Via Fiorentini, is shown for the current and the new situation in Figure 20. The figure shows that the inundation depth has decreased only very lightly in the new situation, with the exception of a few peaks. It is also visible that the beginning of the second peak (the one after 8000 seconds) is delayed in the new situation, but this does not clarify why there is an increased maximum inundation depth at the entry of the Sassi.



Figure 20 - Inundation depth over time at critical point (CP) #8 for the current situation (CS) and the new situation (NS)

3.6.2. Change in maximum flow velocity

Figure 21 shows the change in maximum flow velocity. It can be seen that the maximum flow velocity at the centre of most of the locations of the bio-retention systems has decreased by 0.10-0.50 m/s. In general, at the locations where the maximum inundation depth has decreased also the maximum flow velocity has decreased. Similarly, it seems to increase at locations that have an increase in inundation depth, for example at the beginning of the Via Fiorentini. The entry of the Sassi, indicated in Figure 21 by the red box, is a little more complicated, since there seems to be both an increase and decrease in flow velocity.



Figure 21 - Change in maximum flow velocity in the new situation compared to the current situation

Figure 22 shows a close-up of the change in maximum inundation depth and flow velocity at the entry of the Sassi. Both characteristics seem to increase at multiple points in the street, but they also decrease on a few points. For all cells it seems that if the inundation depth is lower, the flow velocity is lower as well. This also goes for increases of both characteristics. The reason for this varying change is unknown.



Figure 22 - Close-up of the change in maximum inundation depth (left) and maximum flow velocity (right) at the entry of the Sassi

3.6.3. Hydraulic invariance

Figure 23 shows the hydraulic invariance in the area, which has been calculated according to the theory described in section 2.7. It can be seen that, corresponding to the decreases and increases of the inundation depth and flow velocity, the hydraulic invariance decreases downstream of most bioretention systems, and increases at the entry of the Sassi. Overall, it seems that most of the area and especially the main infrastructure are less threatened by the flood event in the new situation.



Figure 23 - Hydraulic invariance in the new situation compared to the current situation

3.6.4. Pedestrian hazard

Figure 24 and 25 show the pedestrian hazard in the Sassi in the current situation and in the new situation. Outside of the Sassi, there are no cells where a hazard occurs. Difference between the current and the new situation in the Sassi is difficult to see in the maps, but when zoomed in it shows that the few cells further downstream have a small decrease in hazard (from medium to low or from low to no hazard for 3-4 cells). For the high hazard region at the entry of the Sassi, the new situation actually increases the area in which (high) hazards can occur by a few cells. This corresponds with the positive hydraulic invariance in that region.



Figure 24 - Pedestrian hazard in current situation in the Sassi



Figure 25 - Pedestrian hazard in the new situation in the Sassi

4. Discussion

The research objective was to determine a suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera and to evaluate how it affects physical flood characteristics in Matera. This section discusses how the results of the research contribute to the achievement of this objective, and how the methodology that has been used to get to these results has affected the research. This will be done in two parts, which are the MCA and the evaluation of the effectivity of the measure with FLORA-2D.

4.1. Discussion of MCA

The MCA was a means to achieve the first part of the research objective, selecting a flood mitigation measure that is suitable for Matera. It was executed in three steps, which are the set-up of alternatives, the set-up of weighted criteria, and assessment of the performance of the alternatives on the criteria.

4.1.1. Set-up of alternatives

Before setting up the alternatives for the MCA, the choice was made to neglect the effect of the drainage system on flow dynamics. This was decided because the rainfall events that cause the floods are too large for the drainage systems to drain the runoff. Besides that, FLORA-2D does not simulate the effect of drainage systems. Even though this was a deliberate choice, it could be possible due to this that the measure that scored best in the MCA is actually not the most suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera, since not all existing pluvial flood mitigation measures were taken into account. Measures that affect the drainage system were only taken into account if their implementation could be simulated with a workaround via QGIS.

4.1.2. Criteria and weights

The criteria are based on a comprehensive stakeholder analysis done for this research, which in turn is based on an existing stakeholder analysis for the area with a focus on crisis management, as explained in section 2.3.1. However, part of the mapping of interests is subjective, since it was not within the scope of this research project to ask the stakeholders for their own input with a focus on flood mitigation. Even though the scores that are assigned to the stakeholder groups do not affect the final scores of the MCA alternatives very much, the interests themselves might affect the criteria and subsequently the ranking of alternatives. Unfortunately, the limited resources for this research project did not allow for a more thorough analysis of the effect the stakeholder interests on the ranking of alternatives.

In the set-up of the criteria, the value tree hierarchies were seen as a helpful resource to not only formulate a complete set of criteria, but also to link the value of stakeholder interests to the criteria. The AHP was also seen as useful, since it shows a clear reasoning behind the division of weights, especially since the values used in the AHP were based on literature and other steps in the research.

4.1.3. Performance assessment

The choice was made to base the alternatives and their performance on the MCA criteria on literature review due to the limited time that was available for this research. Even though it gives a clear overview of the characteristics of each alternative, the information found in literature is often context specific. Even though an effort was made to find literature with a context similar to this research and study area, a complete match could not always be found due to the limited time or lack of literature with a similar context. This might make the assessment of certain performances and interactions with the measure's surroundings less accurate. A sensitivity analysis was done to cope with the largest uncertainties on this point, but it was limited to a maximum of a 10% divergence of the scores that were assumed or based on little sources. In reality, divergence may be much higher than 10%.
4.2. Discussion of evaluation of flood reduction effectivity with FLORA-2D

FLORA-2D was used as a plugin in QGIS to simulate the flooding of the study area in the current situation and in the new situation. Comparison of these two was done to determine how the flood mitigation measure affects the physical flood characteristics in the study area, which was the second part of the research objective.

4.2.1. Set-up of model

In both situations the set-up of the model included an urban basin characterization, rainfall data, and the location of critical points. The set-up of the model for the current situation (before implementation of the measure) also formed the basis for the set-up of the model in the new situation (after implementation of the measure). For the new situation, only some small alterations were made for areas at which the measure was simulated to be implemented.

For the set-up of the urban basin characterization for the current situation, the surface areas were generalized into three categories with varying permeability. Besides this generalization, for some areas the surface type was assumed if it could not be clearly retrieved from sources about the area (i.e. QGIS shapefiles from (RSDI Basilicata, 2021), Google Street View, and Google Maps). Since this was done for areas that make up approximately less than 5% of the area, these assumptions and generalization probably do not affect the changes in flood characteristics a lot, also because they are similar for the current and the new situation.

For the set-up of the model in the new situation, alterations were made to the urban basin characterization and the rainfall data based on both assumptions and literature. Firstly, the location of the bio-retention systems was chosen based on the conditions that are described in literature to be ideal for construction of the systems, but also on the areas that appeared to be available for construction. The latter was the case because there is very limited space in Matera for constructions of any kind. Secondly, the cells in the DEM that were located at an implementation site of a bio-retention system were altered, but the resolution of the DEM is relatively low for this kind of alterations. Therefore, the changes in the DEM do not match the location of the bio-retention systems completely at the edges of the systems. However, this goes for buildings as well and in previous research the model is deemed accurate enough for the study area (Sole et al., 2019). Therefore no issue is seen in this inaccuracy.

4.2.2. Interpretation of model output

Reading the output of the model was difficult for the complete study area, since the difference between cells is not very easily visible on the large scale, but when zoomed into specific areas the resolution of the grid made it hard to interpret the effect the changes in each cell had on the surrounding areas.

The data for the critical points helped to get an idea of the impact of the measures on those specific areas, but since the maps showed highly variable results in cells that were located close to each other, the data of the critical points might not represent the situation at the locations optimally. For example, the critical point at the entry of the Sassi was located at a square just in front of the actual entryway. At this critical point the maximum inundation depth and flow velocity decreased, while the same characteristics increased at the entryway. Therefore, the critical point is not fully representative of the situation at the entry of the Sassi. Following on this point, the simulation results show that all characteristics increase at the entry of the Sassi, which is strange regarding the fact that they have all decreased at the roads that lead to the entryway of the Sassi. The cause of the increase is unknown, since there seems to be no extra runoff coming from other locations.

Lastly, it must be noted that the values that were taken as averages for the hazard categorisation are based on research for inundation depths of 9-16 cm. There are multiple locations in the study area where the inundation depth is larger, so the values might not have been representative for these locations. More accurate values for those locations could result in more classifications of the cells as (higher) hazards.

4.3. Link to literature

Comparing the results of this research to literature with a similar context is difficult, since no literature about flood mitigation in Matera could be found. For the first part of the research, no comparable literature could be found, since the methods that have been used to set up the MCA (through value tree hierarchies) was an approach of which no documentation in this field could be found. MCAs have been used more often to evaluate suitability of a flood mitigation measure, but usually they include a flood reduction assessment based on simulation of a measure in the study area of the research (e.g. (Ghanbarpour et al., 2013)). This does make the ranking more accurate for deciding which measure is best for an area, since it is one of the characteristics of the MCA that is most context specific and thus most difficult to get reliable values from literature. However, the method that was used in this research proved to be a successful method for ranking alternatives about which much information could be retrieved from literature, especially for the limited time that was available. In addition, the model and input data are currently set up in such a way, that evaluation of the effects of other measures is not much extra work, which might open the door to base the assessment the flood reduction effectivity for the MCA on results of simulation in this study area.

The second part of the research is easier to compare with literature, since much research has been done into floods in the Basilicata region, as described in section 1.3. The literature that is described in section 1.3.1. often shows a more extensive analysis of the flood characteristics, sometimes using simulations for multiple rainfall events and comparing simulated results to observational records of flood events. It was known at the beginning of this research that the available time and data would be too little to do an analysis of the flood simulations that is equally extensive. But while simulating flood events for varying rainfall events is very easy to do in the model, for a general idea of the effect of implementation of a flood mitigation measure, the results as presented in this research are also sufficient.

5. Conclusion and recommendations

In this chapter the conclusion to the main research question will be given and recommendations will be done for further research into this matter and similar subjects.

5.1. Conclusion

The research question to answer was: what is a suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera and how effective is it in reducing physical flood characteristics? The previous chapters have described and discussed results that substantiate answers to six sub-questions, which together help to formulate a conclusion to answer the main research question.

5.1.1. Suitability of a flood mitigation measure for Matera

Based on a stakeholder analysis for the study area, it can be said that a flood mitigation measure that is suitable for Matera should perform well on flood prevention, easy maintenance, enhancement of the living area, varying construction aspects, and sustainability. In the current situation in Matera, the focus lies most of all on flood prevention and easy maintenance.

Based on a comparison of the performance of various flood mitigation measures on these aspects, it can be concluded that bio-retention systems are the most suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera, followed closely by urban wetlands. Urban rain barrels and detention tanks are also relatively suitable. Green roofs, retention ponds, and permeable pavement appear to be least suitable, mostly because of their limited performance on flood prevention and (for green roofs and permeable pavements) their large scale implementation.

5.1.2. Effectivity of the most suitable flood mitigation measure for flood reduction in Matera

Since a bio-retention system came out as the most suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera, its implementation has been simulated for simulation of a rainfall event. The results of this simulation were compared to the results of a simulation for the same rainfall event, with the difference that in this second simulation the implementation of bio-retention systems was not simulated. This comparison was used to determine how effective bio-retention systems are in reducing maximum inundation depth, maximum flow velocity, and maximum DV in the study area. Resulting from this comparison it was visible that the implementation of bio-retention systems in the area does reduce the maximum value of each of the flood characteristics in certain areas, but it also shows that there is an increase of the maximum values at the entry of the Sassi.

The conclusion on this part is that, while the measure appears to be effective in reducing flood risk for some critical points in the study area, the flooded area in Matera that received most attention is not helped by the implementation of bio-retention systems at the locations where they have been simulated for this research. The measure even increases the hazards in some parts of that area.

5.2. Recommendations

This research project was bound to some constraints because of limited time and means. Therefore, some recommendations are done for (similar) future research.

5.2.1. Recommendations for determining a suitable flood mitigation measure

First of all, the choice to neglect the effect of the drainage system on the flow dynamics limited the choice of flood mitigation measures. Flood mitigation measures that affect the drainage system were not taken into account in this research, as explained in section 4.1.1., but especially for flooding in urban areas, the drainage system has a large effect on the runoff in the study area. It is therefore recommended to also look into measures that affect the drainage system. If it is necessary to simulate

the implementation of that measure later on, it is possible to combine FLORA-2D with another model that takes the effects of a drainage system into account.

Secondly, actual consultation of stakeholders in the study area could make the criteria that are chosen for the MCA a more accurate representation of the position and interests of the stakeholders. This would require more time than that was available for this research, and depending on the study area and the researcher, language could be a limiting factor on this point.

A last point for this part of the research, is the performance assessment of each flood mitigation measure on the criteria. As explained in section 4.1.3., the performance of the measures is highly context specific, so when literature is used for the performance assessment, it should preferably be selected more based on conditions similar to the study area.

Overall, the method that was used to determine a suitable flood mitigation measure for Matera was perceived to be a good method, since it substantiated every step from stakeholder analysis until criteria weighting and calculation of the scores of the alternatives. It might also be useful for research with a similar set-up for other study areas.

5.2.2. Recommendations for evaluating the effectivity of a flood mitigation measure in terms of inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV with FLORA-2D

When the effectivity of a flood mitigation measure is evaluated by analysis of simulation output of a model, assumptions, approximations, and generalizations will always affect this output. In case of this particular research project, the urban basin characterization was largely based on generalizations and assumptions. For further research, it might be helpful to visit the study area in person, since that gives more information about the surface type of areas that were not included in the QGIS shapefiles for the study area and also not clearly visible via Google Street View or Google Maps. This would give a more accurate categorisation of the surface type of each cell.

Another recommendation for the urban basin characterization, is to look into how the permeability of the surface area affects the runoff. If there is a strong connection between these two, it may be useful to specify more surface types with varying permeability factors to make the effective rainfall on each cell more accurate. Lastly for the urban basin characterization, it is recommended to use a grid with a higher resolution, for example of 1x1 meter and for areas of interest even 0.5x0.5 meter. Even though a grid with a cell size of 2x2 meter is faster to run, it makes the simulation less accurate and it can also make the output of the simulation more difficult to interpret.

The effectivity of flood mitigation measures depends on many factors, among which is also the severity and duration of the rainfall event. Because the time for this research project was limited, only one rainfall event was used to simulate flooding with an implemented flood mitigation measure, but to evaluate the performance of the measure more thoroughly, it is recommended to run simulations with varying rainfall intensities and event durations. Another factor that might affect the performance of the measure, is the location at which the measure is implemented. Changing the location of the measure might have different effects on the inundation depth, flow velocity, and stream power in the rest of the study area.

Overall, FLORA-2D is seen as a suitable model for simulation of urban runoff, if it is taken into account that the drainage system does not play a role in runoff reduction. The plugin in QGIS allows for fast and easy alterations of the urban basin characterization and rainfall data, which makes it easier to evaluate varying set-ups and conditions for flood mitigation measures.

References

- Ahn, C., & Schmidt, S. (2019). Designing Wetlands as an Essential Infrastructural Element for Urban Development in the era of Climate Change. *Sustainability*, 11, 1920.
- Akter, A., Tanim, A., & Islam, M. K. (2020). Possibilities of urban flood reduction through distributedscale rainwater harvesting. *Water Science and Engineering*, 95-105.
- Andrychowicz, A. (2021). *How to set up a rain barrel step-by-step*. Retrieved from Get Busy Gardening: https://getbusygardening.com/how-to-set-up-a-rainbarrel/#:~:text=After%20gathering%20your%20tools%20and,on%20your%20tools%20and%2 Osupplies.
- Armenakis, C., & Nirupama, N. (2013). Estimating spatial disaster risk in urban environments. *Geomatics, Natural Hazards and Risk*, 289-298.
- Baird, J., Winston, R., & Hunt, W. (2020). Evaluating the hydrologic and water quality performance of novel infiltrating wet retention ponds. *Blue-Green Systems*, 282-299.
- Bean, E., Hunt, W., & Bidelspach, D. (2007). Evaluation of Four Permeable Pavement Sites in Eastern North Carolina for Runoff Reduction and Water Quality Impacts. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 249-255.
- Bentivenga, M., Giano, S., & Piccareta, M. (2020). Recent Increase of Flood Frequency in the Ionian Belt of Basilicata Region, Southern Italy: Human or Climatic Changes? *Water*, 12, 2062.
- Berghage, R., Beattie, D., Jarrett, A., Thuring, C., & Razaei, F. (2009). *Green Roofs for Stormwater Runoff Control.* Cincinnati: U.S. Environmental Protection Agency.
- Berndtsson, J., Emilsson, T., & Bentsson, L. (2006). The influence of extensive vegetated roofs on runoff water quality. *Science of the Total Environment*, 48-63.
- Brandl, C., Caufield, K., Dickens, T., Lee, S., Li, G., Liu, Q., & Shau, T. (2017). UBC Spiral Drain Capacity Upgrade. Vancouver: University of British Columbia.
- Budianto, B. S., Astor, Y., Karnisah, I., Pramesthy, B. V., & Alfiansyah, I. (2020). Evaluation of flood mitigation plan for Cibaligo River, Cimahi City, West Java province. *International Journal of GEOMATE*, 188-193.
- Calheiros, C., & Stefanakis, A. (2021). Green Roofs Towrds Circular and Resilient Cities. *Circular Economy and Sustainability*, https://doi.org/10.1007/s43615-021-00033-0.
- Canadian Nursery Landscape Association. (n.d.). *Life Cycle Cost Analysis of Natural On-site Stormwater Management Methods.*
- Canora, F., D'Angella, A., & Aiello, A. (2015). Quantitative assessment of the sensitivity to desertification in the Bradano River basin (Basilicata, southern Italy). *Journal of Maps*, 745-759.
- Cantisani, A., Giosa, L., Mancusi, L., & Sole, A. (2014). FLORA 2D: A New Model to Simulate the Inundation in Areas Covered by Flexible and Rigid Vegetation. *International Journal of Engineering and Innovative Technology*, 179-186.
- Castro, N., Goldenfum, J., Silveira, A. L., DallAgnol, A., Loebens, L., Demarco, C., . . . Quadro, M. (2020). The analysis of green roof's runoff volumes and its water quality in an experimental

study in Porto Alegre, Southern Brazil. *Environmental Science and Pollution Research*, 9520-9534.

- Chapman, C., & Horner, R. (2010). Performance assessment of a street-drainage bioretention system. *Water Environment Research*, 109-119.
- Chesapeake Bay Foundation. (2020). *Rain Barrel Maintenance*. Retrieved from Chesapeake Bay Foundation: https://www.cbf.org/document-library/cbf-guides-factsheets/CBF_Rainbarrels_011614e420.pdf
- Climate-data.org. (n.d.). *Matera klimaat (Italië)*. Retrieved from Climate-data.org: https://nl.climatedata.org/europa/italie/basilicata/matera-1153/
- Collins, K., Hunt, W., & Hathaway, J. (2007). World Environmental and Water Resources Congress. Evaluation of Various Types of Permeable Pavement with Respect to Water Quality Improvement and Flood Control.
- Costa, S., Peters, R., Martins, R., Postmes, L., Keizer, J., & Roebeling, P. (2021). Effectiveness of Nature-Based Solutions on Pluvial Flood Hazard Mitigation: The Case Study of the City of Eindhoven (The Netherlands). *Resources*, 10, 24.
- Costhelper. (2021). *Rain Barrel Cost*. Retrieved from Costhelper: https://home.costhelper.com/rainbarrel.html
- Davis, A., Hunt, W., Traver, R., & Clar, M. (2009). Bioretention technology: Overview of current practice and future needs. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 109-117.
- Davis, A., Shokouhian, M., Sharma, H., & Minami, C. (2006). Water quality improvement through bioretention media: Nitrogen and phosphorus removal. *Water Environment Research*, 284-293.
- Debusk, K., & Thompson, T. W. (2011). Storm-Water Bioretention for Runoff Quality and Quantity Mitigation. *Journal of Environmental Engineering*, 800-808.
- Department for Communities and Local Government. (2009). *Multi-criteria analysis: a manual.* London: Communities and Local Government Publications.
- Eckart, K., McPhee, Z., & Bolisetti, T. (2017). Performance and implementation of low impact development A review. *Science of the Total Environment*, 413-432.
- Emerson, C., Welty, C., & Traver, R. (2005). Watershed-Scale Evaluation of a System of Storm Water Detention Basins. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, DOI:10.1061/(ASCE)1084-0699(2005)10:3(237).
- Environmental Services, City of Portland. (2006). *Rain barrels*. Retrieved from Portland Oregon: https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bes/article/127467
- European Commission. (2021, February). European Capitals of Culture. Retrieved from Creative Europe: https://ec.europa.eu/programmes/creative-europe/actions/capitals-culture_en
- Everplant. (n.d.). FAQ Green Roof. Retrieved from Everplant.com: http://www.everplant.com.hk/English/FAQ_-_Green_Roof.html

- Fennessey, L., Hamlett, J., Aron, G., & LaSota, D. (2001). Changes in Runoff due to Stormwater Management Pond Regulations. *Journal of Hydrologic Engineering*, DOI:10.1061/(ASCE)1084-0699(2001)6:4(317).
- FIXR. (2020, May 28). *How Much Does It Cost to Install a Green Roof*. Retrieved from FIXR: https://www.fixr.com/costs/green-roof
- Freni, G., & Liuzzo, L. (2019). Effectiveness of Rainwater Harvesting Systems for Flood Reduction in Residential Urban Areas. *Water*, https://doi.org/10.3390/w11071389.
- G. Kowalsky, K. T. (2021). Cistern Design Considerations for Large Rainwater Harvesting Systems. Retrieved from CONTECH Engineered Solutions: https://www.conteches.com/knowledgecenter/pdh-article-series/cistern-design-considerations-for-large-rainwater-harvestingsystems
- Ghanbarpour, M., Salimi, S., & Hipel, K. (2013). A comparative evaluation of flood mitigation alternatives using GIS-based river hydraulics modelling and multicriteria decision analysis. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, 319-331.
- GRAF. (2021, April 23). Detention tanks. Retrieved from GRAF Plastics Australia: https://www.grafplasticsaustralia.com.au/products/all-about-stormwater/detentiontanks.html
- Gray, L. (n.d.). Evaluation of Treatment Potential and Feasibility of Constructed Wetlands receiving Municipal Wastewater in Nova Scotia. Halifax: Dalhousie University.
- Guerreiro, S., Glenis, V., Dawson, R., & Kilsby, C. (2017). Pluvial Flooding in European Cities A Continental Approach to Urban Flood Modelling. *Water*, https://doi.org/10.3390/w9040296.
- Hancock, G., Holley, J., & Chambers, R. (2010). A field-based evaluation of wet retention ponds: how effective are ponds at water quantity control. *Journal of the American water resources association*, 1145-1158.
- Hanway, C. C. (2015, May 26). *Hardscaping 101: Green Roofs*. Retrieved from Gardenista: https://www.gardenista.com/posts/hardscaping-101-green-roofs/
- Hashemi, S., Mahmud, H., & Ashraf, M. (2015). Performance of green roofs with respect to water quality and reduction of energy consumption in tropics: A review. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 669-679.
- Hatcher, M. (2020, May 27). Detention & Retention Pond Maintenance Tips (Up to Code? Or in Deep Water?). Retrieved from Hatcherlandscape: https://www.hatcherlandscape.com/blog/detention-retention-pond-maintenance-tips
- Hein, D. (2016, January 7). Maintenance Guidelines for Permeable Interlocking Concrete Pavement Systems. Retrieved from Stormwater: https://www.stormh2o.com/home/article/13021316/maintenance-guidelines-forpermeable-interlocking-concrete-pavement-systems
- Henderson, C., Greenway, M., & Philips, I. (2007). Removal of dissolved nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon rom storm water by biofiltration mesocosms. *Water Science Technology*, 183-191.
- Hill, J. (2017). *Designing Green Roofs for Low Impact Development*. Toronto: Graduate Department of Civil Engineering, University of Toronto.

- Hobart City Council. (2006). *Practice Notes 11 Wetland design, construction & maintenance.* Hobart City Council. Retrieved from Hobart City: https://www.hobartcity.com.au/files/assets/public/roads-and-transport/stormwater/11.wetland-design.pdf
- Hu, M., Zhang, X., Siu, Y., Li, Y., Tanaka, K., Yang, H., & Xu, Y. (2018). Flood Mitigation by Permeable Pavements in Chinese Sponge City Construction. *Water*, 10, 172.
- Huang, J., Li, Y., Niu, S., & Zhou, S. (2014). Assessing the performances of low impact development alternatives by long-term simulation for a semi-arid area in Tianjin, northern China. *Water Science Technology*, 1740-1745.
- Huang, Y., Tian, Z., Ke, Q., Liu, J., Irannezhad, M., Fan, D., . . . Sun, L. (2020). Nature-based solutions for urban pluvial flood risk management. *WIREs water*, https://doi.org/10.1002/wat2.1421.
- Hunt, W., Jarrett, A., Smith, J., & Sharkey, L. (2006). Evaluating bioretention hydrology and nutrient removal at three field sites in North Carolina. *Journal of Irrigation and Drainage Engineering*, 600-608.
- Kaeding, K. (2020, July 24). *Stormwater Tanks*. Retrieved from Adler tank rentals: https://www.adlertankrentals.com/blog/stormwater-tanks
- Kaiser, L. F. (2021). Save Water and Money with a Rain Barrel. Retrieved from houselogic: https://www.houselogic.com/save-money-add-value/save-on-utilities/water-savings-barrel/
- Kumar, R., Martell, S., Pitcher, T., & Varkey, D. (2013). Temperature-driven decline of a cisco population in Mille Lacs Lake, Minnesota. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 669-681.
- Lashford, C., Rubinato, M., Cai, Y., Hou, J., Abolfathi, S., Coupe, S., . . . Tait, S. (2019). SuDS & Sponge Cities: A Comparative Analysis of the Implementation of Pluvial Flood Management in the UK and China. *Sustainability*, https://doi.org/10.3390/su11010213.
- Lee, J., Moon, H., Kim, T., Kim, H., & Han, M. (2013). Quantitative analysis on the urban flood mitigation effect by the extensive green roof system. *Environmental Pollution*, 257-261.
- Leyland, N. (2021). *Maintaining your green roof*. Retrieved from Sempergreen: https://www.sempergreen.com/en/solutions/green-roofs/maintaining
- Li, J., Tao, T., Kreidler, M., Burian, S., & Yan, H. (2019). Construction Cost-Based Effectiveness Analysis of Green and Grey Infrastructure in Controlling Flood Inundation: A Case Study. *Journal of Water Management Modeling*, https://doi.org/10.14796/JWMM.C466.
- Low Impact Development Center. (2021, May 19). *Bioretention*. Retrieved from lid-stormwater: https://www.lidstormwater.net/bio_costs.htm#:~:text=Commercial%2C%20industrial%20and%20institution al%20site,curbing%2C%20storm%20drains%20and%20underdrains.&text=For%20example% 2C%20the%20use%20of,conveyance%20systems%20at%20a%20site.
- Lu, W., Qin, X., & Jun, C. (2019). A Parsimonious Framework of Evaluating WSUD Features in Urban Flood Mitigation. *Journal of Environmental Informatics*, 17-27.
- Magnan, M. (2021, March 15). *Living green roofs: the secrets to success*. Retrieved from Ecohome: https://www.ecohome.net/guides/1099/living-green-roofs-the-secret-to-

success/#:~:text=Durability%20and%20cost%20of%20Green%20Roofs%3A&text=Expect%20 at%20least%20a%2050,the%20lifespan%20of%20a%20building.

- Manfreda, S., & Samela, C. (2019). A digital elevation model based method for a rapid estimation of flood inundation depth. *Journal of Flood Risk Management*, https://doi.org/10.1111/jfr3.12541.
- McCuen, R. (1979). Downstream Effects of Stormwater Management Basins. *Journal of the Hydraulics Division*, 1343-1356.
- Metro Vancouver. (n.d.). A Homeowner's Guide to Stormwater Management. Retrieved from metrovancouver: http://www.metrovancouver.org/services/liquidwaste/LiquidWastePublications/HomeownersGuideStormwaterManagement.pdf
- Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. (2016, September 21). *Operation and maintenance of bioretention*. Retrieved from Minnesota Stormwater Manual: https://stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php?title=Operation_and_maintenance_of_bioret ention&redirect=no
- Minnesota Pollution Control Agency. (2020, April 13). *Operation and maintenance of green roofs*. Retrieved from Minnesota Stormwater Manual: https://stormwater.pca.state.mn.us/index.php/Operation_and_maintenance_of_green_roof s
- Montgomery County, Department of Environmental Protection. (2013). *How to maintain your rain barrel*. Retrieved from Montgomery County: https://www.montgomerycountymd.gov/DEP/Resources/Files/PostersPamphlets/Rain-Barrels.pdf
- Mrugacz, J. (2017, May 2). *Porous Asphalt Paving Cost And Environmental Benefits*. Retrieved from Wolf Paving: https://www.wolfpaving.com/blog/bid/55431/porous-asphalt-paving-cost-and-environmental-benefits
- Mutual Materials Company. (n.d.). *Basics of Permeable Pavements*. Retrieved from https://cdn.ymaws.com/www.wsnla.org/resource/resmgr/Docs/LID_Baics_of_Permeable_Pa vem.pdf

National Park Service U.S. Department of the Interior. (n.d.). *Green Roof Benefits*. Retrieved from Technical Preservation Services: https://www.nps.gov/tps/sustainability/newtechnology/greenroofs/benefits.htm#:~:text=Over%20its%20estimated%20lifespan%20of,surroundings%2C%2 Oand%20the%20building%20itself.

- Naturally Resilient Communities. (n.d.). *Floodwater Detention and Retention Basins*. Retrieved from NRC Solutions: http://nrcsolutions.org/floodwater-detention/
- New Dawn. (2015, November 19). *Permeable Concrete.* Retrieved from New Dawn Permeable Paving: https://newdawnpermeablepaving.com.au/permeable-concrete
- OPUB: Singapore's National Water Agency. (2021). On-site Stormwater Detention Tank Systems.
- Oral, H., Carvalho, P., Gajewska, M., Ursino, N., Masi, F., van Hullebusch, E., . . . Krzeminski, P. (2020). A review of nature-based solutions for urban water management in European circular cities: a critical assessment based on case studies and literature. *Blue-Green Systems*, 112-136.

- Palla, A., Gnecco, I., & La, P. B. (2017). The impact of domestic rainwater harvesting systems in storm water runoff mitigation at the urban block scale. *Journal of Environmental Management*, 297-305.
- Palta, M., Grimm, N., & Groffman, P. (2017). "Accidental" urban wetlands: ecosystem functions in unexpected places. *Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment*, 248-256.
- Pappalardo, V., Campisano, A., Martinico, F., Modica, C., & Barbarossa, L. (2017). A hydraulic invariance-based methodology for the implementation of storm-water release restrictions in urban land use master plans. *SI Urban Hydrology*, 4046-4055.
- Pellicani, R., Parisi, A., Iemmolo, G., & Apollonio, C. (2018). Economic Risk Evaluation in Urban Flooding and Instability-Prone Areas: The Case Study of San Giovanni Rotondo (Southern Italy). *Geosciences*, https://doi.org/10.3390/geosciences8040112.
- Pettersson, T. (1998). Water quality improvement in a small stormwater detention pond. *Water Science and Technology*, 115-122.
- Presley, B. (2019, May 20). *Maintaining your customer's retention pond*. Retrieved from Total Landscape Care: https://www.totallandscapecare.com/business/article/15042069/retentionpond-maintenance-and-design-tips-for-landscapers
- Prinsco. (n.d.). Technical note, Retention/detention cleaning and maintenance. Willmar.
- Rahman, M., Imteaz, M., Arulrajah, A., & Jegatheesan, P. (2015). Recycled Construction and Demolition Materials in Permeable Pavement Systems: Geotechnical and Hydraulic Characteristics. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 183-194.
- Richmond Vale. (2017, May 10). *Rainwater Harvesting: 6 Ways to save the planet!* Retrieved from Richmond Vale Academy: https://richmondvale.org/en/blog/rainwater-harvesting-6-waysto-save-the-planet
- Rizzo, A., Bresciani, R., Masi, F., Boano, F., Revelli, R., & Ridolfi, L. (2018). Flood reduction as an ecosystem service of constructed wetlands for combined sewer overflow. *Journal of hydrology*, 150-159.
- RSDI Basilicata. (2021, May 31). Servizi in linea. Retrieved from RSDI Geoportale, Regione Basilicata: http://rsdi.regione.basilicata.it/viewGis/?project=C5E7A17D-92E8-4DAB-FF83-D79F568CFE6F
- Russo, B., Gómez, M., & Macchione, F. (2013). Pedestrian hazard criteria for flooded urban areas. *Natural Hazards*, 251-265.
- Scarpino, S., Albano, R., Cantisani, A., Mancusi, L., Sole, A., & Milillo, G. (2018). Multitemporal SAR Data and 2D hydrodynamic Model Flood Scenario Dynamics Assessment. *International Journal of Geo-Information*, https://doi.org/10.3390/ijgi7030105.
- Schill, J. (2015, July 16). *Detention And Retention Pond Maintenance 5 Ways To Pass Inspection*. Retrieved from Schill landscaping: https://www.schilllandscaping.com/blog/detention-and-retention-pond-maintenance-5-ways-to-pass-inspection
- School of Engineering & RSE. (n.d.). FLORA2D FLOod and Roughness Analysis, descrizione del modello.

- Setherton, G. (2021). *Green Roof Maintenance A Complete Guide*. Retrieved from Permagard: https://www.permagard.co.uk/advice/green-roof-maintenance-guide
- Shafique, M. (2016). A review of the bioretention system for sustainable storm water management in urban areas. *RMZ: Materials and Geoenvironment*, 227-235.
- Sharley, D., Sharp, S., Marshall, S., Jeppe, K., & Pettigrove, V. (2017). Linking urban land use to pollutants in constructed wetlands: Implications for stormwater and urban planning. *Landscape and Urban Planning*, 80-91.
- Shuster, W., Lye, D., Cruz, A. D., Rhea, L., O'Connell, K., & Kelty, A. (2013). Assessment of Residential Rain Barrel Water Quality and Use in Cincinnati, Ohio. *Journal of the American Water Resources Association*, 753-765.
- Sole, A., Ermini, R., Albano, R., & Mancusi, L. (2019). Matera, analisi di resilienza urbana. *VII ProArch Forum*.
- Sole, A., Giosa, L., & Copertino, V. (2007). Risk flood areas, a study case: Basilicata Region. *WIT Transactions on Ecology and the Environment*, 213-228.
- Speak, C. (2019, November 19). *Italy's ancient cave city of Matera left in desperate need of emergency funding*. Retrieved from The local: https://www.thelocal.it/20191119/italys-ancient-cave-city-of-matera-holds-out-for-emergency-funding-after-floods/
- Spraakman, S., van Seters, T., Drake, J., & Passeport, E. (2020). How has it changed? A comparative field evaluation of bioretention infiltration and treatment performance post-construction and at maturity. *Ecological Engineering*, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecoleng.2020.106036.
- Stormwater Assessment Monitoring and Performance Program. (2004). *Performance assessment of the eastern beaches detention tank.* Toronto: Toronto and Region Conservation Authority.
- Sustainable Technologies. (2021, April 22). *Permeable Pavement*. Retrieved from Sustainable Technologies Evaluation Program: https://sustainabletechnologies.ca/home/urban-runoffgreen-infrastructure/low-impact-development/permeable-pavement/
- Teng, J., Jakeman, A., Vaze, J., Croke, B., Dutta, D., & Kim, S. (2017). Flood inundation modelling: A review of methods, recent advances and uncertainty analysis. *Environmental Modelling & Software*, 201-216.
- Townshend, D. (2007, January). *Study on Green Roof Application in Hong Kong.* Retrieved from ResearchGate: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/258332717_Study_on_Green_Roof_Application_i n_Hong_Kong
- U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration. (n.d.). *Stormwater Best Management Practices in an Ultra-Urban Setting: Selection and Monitoring*. Retrieved from Environmental Review Toolkit: https://www.environment.fhwa.dot.gov/env_topics/water/ultraurban_bmp_rpt/3fs6.aspx
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency. (2009). *Stormwater Wet Pond and Wetland Management Guidebook.* EPA.
- UNESCO. (2021, February). *The Sassi and the Park of the Rupestrian Churches of Matera*. Retrieved from UNESCO World Heritage Centre: https://whc.unesco.org/en/list/670/

- University of New Hampshire Stormwater Center. (2011, January 15). Regular Inspection and Maintenance Guidance for Bioretention Systems / Tree Filters.
- Urban Green-Blue Grids. (2021, April 23). *Urban wetlands*. Retrieved from Urban Green-Blue Grids: https://www.urbangreenbluegrids.com/measures/urban-wetlands/
- van de Poel, I. (2013). Translating Values into Design Requirements. In D. Michelfelder, N. McCarthy,
 & D. Goldber, *Philosophy and Engineering: Reflections on Practice, Principles and Process* (pp. 253-266). Dordrecht: Springer.
- Verschuren, P., & Doorewaard, J. (2010). Research framework. In P. Verschuren, & H. Doorewaard, *Designing a Research Project* (pp. 65-70). The Hague: Eleven International Publishing.
- Waelti, C., & Spuhler, D. (2020). *Factsheet Retention Basin*. Retrieved from SSWM: https://sswm.info/water-nutrient-cycle/wastewater-treatment/hardwares/semi-centralisedwastewater-treatments/retention-basin
- Weiss, P., Kayhanian, M., Khazanovich, L., & Gulliver, J. (2015). *Permeable Pavements in Cold Climates*. Minneapolis: St. Anthonay Falls Laboratory, University of Minnesota.
- Yang, H., Dick, W., McCoy, E., Phelan, P., & Grewal, P. (2013). Field evaluation of a new biphasic rain garden for stormwater flow management and pollutant removal. *Ecological Engineering*, 22-31.
- Zhang, X., Hu, M., Chen, G., & Xu, Y. (2012). Urban Rainwater Utilization and its Role in Mitigating Urban Waterlogging Problems - A Case Study in Nanjing, China. *Water Resources management*, 3757-3766.
- Zhu, H., Yu, M., Zhu, J., & Lu, H. C. (2019). Simulation study on effect of permeable pavement on reducing flood risk of urban runoff. *International Journal of Transportation Science and Technology*, 373-382.

Appendix A – FLORA-2D explanation and set-up

As explained before, FLORA-2D is a two-dimensional hydrodynamic model that focusses mostly on the flow resistance that is caused by vegetation and soil roughness. The latest version of the model contains a major update consisting of the ability to apply effective rainfall (rainfall minus losses due to interception/infiltration, also called excess rainfall) directly to homogeneous areas in the flow area: this is very useful in the case study of flooding due to heavy rain in an urban areas (L. Mancusi, personal communication, June 30, 2021). This appendix explains the workings of the model and describes how the input for the model can be adjusted to be applicable to a study area.

A.1. FLORA-2D explained

The FLORA-2D model has a graphical interface consisting of a plugin that can be installed in QGIS, via which input is linked to the model. The model can be run from the plugin. If the model is run, the shallow water equations are used to calculate the flow propagation. The shallow water equations are simplified by eliminating the convective terms. The simplified equations are discretized in time and space, the latter via an orthogonal staggered grid. The exact derivation of the equations is described in the FLORA-2D user manual (School of Engineering & RSE, n.d.).

In each time step and for each cell, the inundation depth, flow velocity and direction, and the product of the inundation depth and flow velocity (DV) are calculated. Also, the model keeps track of when inundation starts to occur in each cell, which can be used to get a map of the flood wave arrival time. This is mostly interesting for modelling of river floods.

A.2. Set-up of the model for a specific study area

To set up the model so that it is useable for a study area, a DEM, homogeneous areas shapefile, and a shapefile containing the HTEM points are needed. How these files have been set up for this research has been explained in chapter 2.

Figure 26 shows the QGIS window in which the first steps in setting up the model for the study area can be carried out. It is firstly necessary to create a project, in which the study area can be set up and files can be adjusted if necessary. A DEM must be linked to this project.

Then a geodatabase must be created, in which the files can be uploaded that are needed to define the study area. After that, a coordinate reference system (SRID) must be selected. The homogeneous areas shapefile can be uploaded, containing at least one characteristic that categorises the type of surface of each polygon in the file. This file is rasterized to later be linked to the effective rainfall for each cell. As a next step, the HTEM points shapefile can be uploaded so that for designated locations the physical flood characteristics are measured over time and presented in graphs after running the model. Moving to the right column of Figure 26, it is now only necessary to update all files based on the ones that have been used as input. For the boundary conditions layer it is also necessary to assign locations where runoff can flow out of the study area, but since research had previously been done for this study area this was already set up. As a last step, the files must be copied to use as input for the model.

A.3. Set-up of simulation settings

Figure 27 shows QGIS window in which the set-up of the simulation settings can be carried out. It is firstly important to select the project for which the simulation must be done, after which the TERRENO, DOMINIO, and CONDIZ files are selected that contain information about the set-up of the model. They have been created in the steps described in the previous section. The run number must also be adjusted, to make sure that output files do not overwrite the results of previous runs.

Bachelor Thesis Flood Mitigation Matera – A.V. (Lieke) van Haastregt

ecent Projects:				
C:\Users\lieke\Documen	ts\01. Uni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q4 F	LORA2D\Poging 3\FL	ORA2D_RUN1\Matera	
roject Name:	Matera			Browse
roject Path:	rs\lieke\Documents\01. Uni\12. Ba	achelor thesis\Q4 FL	ORA2D\Poging 3\FLORA2D_RUN1	Browse
igital Elevation Model:				
VDocuments\01. Uni\12	. Bachelor thesis\Q4 FLORA2D\Pogi	ng 3\FLORA2D_RUN	1\raster\DTM (2)_Mod_Mod.tif 🔻	Browse
urrent Coordinate Refer	rence System :		Unc	lateComboBox
eodatabase Snatial ite (Configuration			
edatabase Namer	comgaration			
	\01_Uni\12_Bachalas thasis\04_ELC			Browso
Users (lieke (Documents	VUI, UNIVIZ, BACHEIOF (NESIS/Q4 FLC	KA2D (Foging 3 (FLO	KAZD_KUNI (Matera.sqlite	Browse
Current Geodatabase C	coordinate Reference System :			
V Create	New Geodatabase	v	UndateOmorAreas	
Credite	New Geodalabase		opulicomogricus	
✓	Select SRID			Inven
		v	Create terms boundary conditions	
V		V	Create temp boundary conditions	layer
✓ Add all La	ayers to Map Canvas	V	Create temp boundary conditions	layer
Add all La Load shp	ayers to Map Canvas	V	Create temp boundary conditions	aver
Add all La Load shp	EDIT Aree Omog Layer	V V V	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la	ayer
Add all La Load shp UpdateOmog	EDIT Aree Omog Layer	▼ ▼ ▼	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la Update file DOMINIO	ayer
 Add all La Load shp UpdateOmog Raste 	EDIT Aree Omog Layer D V InputRain rize Omog Layer	▼ ▼ ▼	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la Update file DOMINIO	ayer
 Add all La Load shp UpdateOmog Raste EDIT aree_om 	expers to Map Canvas EDIT Aree Omog Layer ID V InputRain erize Omog Layer og table Load shp HTEM	▼ ▼ ▼ ▼	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la Update file DOMINIO Copy files to INPUT FLORA2E	ayer
Add all La Add all La Load shp UpdateOmog Raste EDIT aree_omuns	ayers to Map Canvas EDIT Aree Omog Layer ID V InputRain arize Omog Layer og table Load shp HTEM	▼ ▼ ▼ ▼	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la Update file DOMINIO Copy files to INPUT FLORA2E	ayer
 ✓ Add all La ✓ Load shp ✓ UpdateOmog ✓ Raste ✓ EDIT aree_omog 	ayers to Map Canvas EDIT Aree Omog Layer ID InputRain arize Omog Layer og table Load shp HTEM	✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓	Create temp boundary conditions EDIT boundary condition layer Save def boundary conditions la Update file DOMINIO Copy files to INPUT FLORA2E id results Edit file CONDI	ayer

Figure 26 – QGIS window for the set-up of the model for a study area

De seet Desiseter		
C:\Users\lieke\Docur	nents\01. Uni\12. Rachelor thesis\04 ELORA2D\Poging 3\ELORA2D_RUN1\Matera.xml	
out files		
Project	C:\Users\lieke\Documents\01. Uni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q4 FLORA2D\Poging 3\FLORA2D_RI	JN1\N Save Project
Create name proj	Clean name proj Run number 1	Open Project
File TERRENO	$[lieke \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ \ $	ra.ter 🥥 edit
File DOMINIO	pke\Documents\01. Uni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q4 FLORA2D\Poging 3\FLORA2D_RUN1\Matera	.dom 🥥 edit
File CONDIZ	ieke\Documents\01. Uni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q4 FLORA2D\Poging 3\FLORA2D_RUN1\Mater	a.con 🔘 edit form
File RESTART		0
	☑ Use the OpenMP parallel release	RUN
	0%	STOP THE RU
e gis output files		
File DTM	01. Uni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q4 FLORA2D\Poging 3\FLORA2D_RUN1\MateraFiles\TERRENO.A	ISC 🥥
Dir result	Matera_Run_1	
Temporal maps	Maximum Envelopes of Water Create output vector shape file	Temporal hydrograph
put		
ELORADD USer m	anual	Exit

Figure 27 - QGIS window for the set-up of the simulation

The CONDIZ file can be opened by clicking on the 'form' button, which gives the possibility to alter the simulation time, the time step, and the time print that is used for the creation of temporal output files (see Figure 28, which includes the settings that have been used for the simulations of this research). Besides that, the rain input can be linked to the different surface types in this window and it can be checked if the boundary conditions (where the runoff can flow out of the study area) and the HTEM points are set up correctly. If necessary, they can also be adjusted in this window. The homogeneous areas and rain input section includes hydrodynamic characteristics, which can be seen by clicking on the 'show data' button. This presents a table at the bottom of the window that includes the manning coefficient for each surface type. The table also includes the NTABQ(I) number, which is the number that links the effective rainfall to each surface type. By uploading a csv file and selecting the column that contains the effective rainfall for that surface type, the right amount of rainfall is linked to each surface type. When selecting a NTABQ(I) number and clicking on the 'show table' button on the right, it can be checked if the rainfall is correctly linked to the surface type. If the manning coefficient needs to be adjusted for a surface type, this can be done by clicking on the edit button for the CONDIZ file, which can be seen in Figure 27. This opens a text file in which the manning coefficients can be adjusted.

If these settings are all set up correctly, the run button can be clicked to start the simulation. To create output in the form of maps, also the DEM must be selected again. The maps show the physical flood characteristics that were mentioned earlier for each cell in the study area. The temporal maps button gives the characteristics for each time print as indicated in the CONDIZ file, the maximum envelopes of water button creates maps showing the maximum values for the characteristics over the whole simulation time, the create output vector shape file checkbox gives a shapefile that contains the flow direction and magnitude of the flow velocity, and the temporal hydrographs present graphs for the characteristics over time for each HTEM point.

F	ile CON		:\Users\li	ieke\Docu	iments\01. Ur	ni\12. Bachelor thesis\Q	4 FLORA	2D\Poging	3\FLOR	A2D_RUN1\Mat
т	INI (se	c)	TFIN (s	ec)	DT (sec)	DTSTA (sec)				
	0.00		15300.0	00	0.50	900.0				
٧	MRH		TOL_H		TOLL2	MAXLOOP		FI		
0.:	250000	00	0.001000	000	0.0000100	50		1.00		
~	MES	HUP : upd	ate the m	esh at ea	ch time step					
Ho	moden	ous areas	und rain in	put						
	nogen					NTABQ(I)				
	NAREO	DM 5		Sho	w data	1 •	Show ta	able	Iraph	Load csv
BOI	undary	conditions				NTAB_CON(K)				
	NCON	2		Sho	w data	6 🔻	Show ta	able g	jraph 👘	Load csv
Poi	nte HTI	FM : to say	e temnorz	al results						
Poi	nts HTI NHTEN	EM : to sav	e tempora	al results	w data	Update HTEM from db]			
Poi	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli	EM : to sav M 9 ite Users\	e tempora	al results	w data	Update HTEM from db	2D\Pogir	ıg 3\FLOR/	A2D_RUN	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T	EM : to sav M 9 ite Users\	e tempora	al results	w data	Update HTEM from db	2D\Pogir Tab	ig 3\FLOR	A2D_RUN	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T	EM : to sav M 9 ite Users\ SCABR(I	e tempora	al results Sho uments\01 PUA(I)	w data 1. Uni\12. Bao NTABQ(I)	Update HTEM from db	.2D\Pogir Tab	ig 3\FLOR le n: 1 X	A2D_RUN	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR	nts HTI NHTEM db.sqli EOM T I I	EM : to sav 9 ite Users SCABR(I, 0.05	e tempora	al results Sho uments\01 PUA(I) 0.0	w data I. Uni\12. Bac NTABQ(I) 1	Update HTEM from db chelor thesis\Q4 FLORA	.2D\Pogir Tab	ig 3\FLOR le n: 1 X 0.0	A2D_RUN y 0.765	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T I 1 2	EM : to sav M 9 ite Users SCABR(I 0.05: 0.05:	e tempora	PUA(I) 0.0	w data . 1. Uni\12. Bac NTABQ(I) 1 2	Update HTEM from db	.2D\Pogir Tab	ig 3\FLOR/ le n: 1 X 0.0 900.0	A2D_RUN y 0.765 5.368	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T I 1 2 3	EM : to sav M 9 SCABR(I) 0.05: 0.05:	e tempora lieke\Docu 5 PUL(I) 5 1.0 5 1.0 5 1.0	al results Sho uments\01 PUA(I) 0.0 0.0 0.0	w data (1. Uni\12. Bao NTABQ(I) 1 2 3	Update HTEM from db	2D\Pogir Tab	ig 3\FLOR le n: 1 X 0.0 900.0 1800.0	A2D_RUN y 0.765 5.368 3.849	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR 1 2 3	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T I 1 2 3	EM : to sav M 9 SCABR(I 0.05: 0.05: 0.00	e tempora lieke\Doct 5 1.0 5 1.0 5 1.0 7 1.0	al results Sho Uments(0) PUA(I) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.	w data	Update HTEM from db	Interest of the second	ig 3\FLOR. le n: 1 x 0.0 900.0 1800.0 2700.0	A2D_RUN y 0.765 5.368 3.849 17.049	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR 1 2 3 4	nts HTI NHTEM db.sqli EOM T 1 2 3 4	EM : to sav M 9 SCABR(I. 0.05: 0.06 0.07	e tempora	al results Sho uments\01 PUA(I) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	w data I. Uni\12. Bac NTABQ() 1 2 3 4	Update HTEM from db chelor thesis\Q4 FLORA	1122 4	g 3\FLOR/ le n: 1 x 0.0 900.0 1800.0 2700.0	A2D_RUN y 0.765 5.368 3.849 17.049	1\Matera.sqlite
Poi AR 1 2 3 4 5	nts HTI NHTEN db.sqli EOM T 1 2 3 4 5	EM : to sav M 9 SCABR(I 0.05: 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00	e tempora iieke\Docu iieke iieke\Docu iieke iieke\Docu iieke ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii ii	al results Sho PUA(I) 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0	w data I. Uni\12. Bad NTABQ() 1 2 3 4 5	Update HTEM from db	2D\Pogir Tab 1 2 3 4 5	ig 3\FLOR/ le n: 1 X 900.0 1800.0 2700.0 3600.0	y 0.765 5.368 3.849 17.049 5.456	1\Matera.sqlitt

Figure 28 - QGIS window for adjustment of the CONDIZ file

Appendix B – Flood mitigation measure performances

In this appendix, for each measure its possible implementation in the study area and in the model is described, as well as the measure's performance on all criteria. Also, some additional information about each measure is given. In each case, the performance score is substantiated by literature and assumptions.

B.1. Green roofs

Technical information and information about the implementation of green roofs is described in Table 6.

Table 6 - Green roof implementation and performance on criteria

1. Green roofs

Implementation of measure

Implementing green roofs is not possible on all buildings, since some constructions might not be able to support the additional load. Based on this, combined with the fact that some property owners might not want a green roof installed on their building, the assumption is made that on 35% of the buildings in the study area a green roof will be implemented. This is an area of 156,357 m².

Simulating implementation of green roofs in QGIS can be done by simulating an increase in infiltration capacity on the roofs. This can be done by creating a surface type in the shapefile that links the rainfall data to the cells (the homogeneous areas shapefile) for every surface that can be classified as a green roof. Besides that, the rainfall data for this surface type is multiplied with a factor similar to the value for runoff reduction that is found in literature.

Flood prevention

For flood mitigation, a green roof is most effective for rainfall events under 20 mm/h (Lee et al., 2013). As flood mitigation measure it is more effective when implemented on a large scale, it should cover at least 10% of the study area to have an impact on floods (Huang et al., 2020).

Since most data about the flood reduction effectivity of green roofs is given for the roof area (not the study area as a whole), the effectivity found in literature must be multiplied with the percentage of the study area that is covered by green roofs. With the assumption that green roofs will be implemented at 35% of the total roof area, this means that 12% of the study area is covered by green roofs.

Runoff → average reduction of 9% of total runoff, 17% reduction of building runoff

Literature:

27-81% reduction of roof runoff (Akter et al., 2020), = 3-10% reduction of total runoff 25-52% reduction of roof runoff (Lee et al., 2013), = 3-6% reduction of total runoff 30-50% reduction of roof runoff (Eckart et al., 2017), = 4-6% reduction of total runoff 92% reduction of roof runoff (Castro et al., 2020), = 11% reduction of total runoff 70% reduction of roof runoff (Hill, 2017), = 8% reduction of total runoff 50% reduction of roof runoff (Berghage et al., 2009), = 6% reduction of total runoff 9-37% reduction of total runoff (Costa et al., 2021)

Peak flow reduction \rightarrow <u>average reduction of 3% of total peak flow, 9% reduction of building peak</u> <u>flow</u>

Literature:

26% reduction of roof peak flow (Lu et al., 2019), = 3% reduction of total peak flow

Maintenance

Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)		
Maintenance infrastructure \rightarrow	score of 1 (no added maintenance)	
Maintenance residences & facilities \rightarrow	score of 5 (medium. = 3, low effort = 2)	
Maintenance Sassi 🗲	score of 1 (no added maintenance)	

Literature:
3-6 times a year – removing weeds, applying fertilizer (Leyland, 2021; Setherton, 2021)
Conditionally – watering (if dry for 4 weeks) (Setherton, 2021)
Conditionally – plant replacement, soil tests (Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, 2020)
Life span → <u>average estimated life span of 43 years</u>
Literature:
40 year life span (National Park Service U.S. Department of the Interior, n.d.)
30-50 year life span (Hanway, 2015)
50 year life span (Magnan, 2021)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area \rightarrow the added green area is 156.357 m ²
Assumptions:
is based on photos of green roofs
Is based on photos of green roots. Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 7.919 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that 5% of the area that is covered by green roofs is suitable as recreational area.
This assumption is based on photos of green roofs.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1)
Reduces pollution of water \rightarrow score of 4.5 (reduction of P = 0.7, N = 1.9, SS = 0, HM = 1.3)
Literature:
Reduces phosphorus nitrogen and heavy metal concentrations (Hashemi et al. 2015)
Increases phosphorus concentration, but reduces nitrogen concentrations (Berndtsson et al., 2006)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of Λ (neonle affected = few (2), nuisance = little (2))
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$
Assumptions:
Since a green roof is constructed on roofs, it is assumed that construction only affects the people that are in
the building (except maybe for noise pollution for the surrounding area, but that is unknown). For the
people in the building, no hinder is expected apart from noise pollution and presence of constructors.
Duration construction $\rightarrow \underline{60 \text{ months}}$
Assumptions/literature:
Construction of a residential roof takes 2-3 days, for a larger (commercial/industrial) installation it takes about
1 week (Everplant, n.d.)
In the QGIS shapefile, there are 757 buildings (most are large buildings). Based on the assumption that on 35%
of the buildings a green roof will be installed, it is assumed that a green roof will be installed on 265 large
buildings. Since the construction of a large green roof takes about 1 week, the construction of all large
buildings will take about 5 years.
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow <u>\$32,271,400 (USD)</u>
Assumptions/literature:
Installation of a green roof costs approximately \$200 (USD) per m ² (FIXR, 2020; Hanway, 2015)
Based on the assumption that on 35% of the roof area a green roof will be installed, the total construction
costs will be \$31,271,400.
Sustainability
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Circular materials \rightarrow score of 5.5 (half circular, half not known/not circular)
Assumptions/literature:
Some literature states that green roots support a transition of a city towards circularity (Calheiros & Stefanakis,
2021). However, no literature could be found that mentioned exactly why this is the case.



B.2. Permeable pavement

Technical information and information about the implementation of permeable pavement is described in Table 7.

Table 7 - Permeable pavement implementation and performance on criteria

2. Permeable pavement

Implementation of measure

Implementing permeable pavements is not possible for all paved areas, since permeable pavement is not suitable for roads that are used by heavy traffic. Therefore, the assumption is made that permeable pavement will be used for all non-main roads and parking lots. This is about 55% of the total road area, which is 250,246 m².

Simulating implementation of permeable pavement in QGIS can be done by simulating an increase in infiltration capacity on the paved areas. This can be done by creating a surface type in the shapefile that links the rainfall data to the cells (the homogeneous areas shapefile) for every surface

that can be classified as permeable pavement. Besides that, the rainfall data for this surface type is multiplied with a factor similar to the value for runoff reduction that is found in literature
Flood prevention
The flood reduction effectivity of permeable pavement depends on many factors, such as the type of pavement, the materials that are used, the service life, the environment and maintenance of the pavement (Zhu et al., 2019). The data that are presented in this table assume optimal conditions of the pavement, and are (where possible) filtered for rainfall conditions similar to the available rainfall data for Matera. As flood mitigation measure, the effect of permeable pavement is proportional to the surface area at which it is implemented, which means that it gets more effective when it covers a larger surface area (Costa et al., 2021). It should cover at least 10% of the study area to be found effective (Huang et al., 2020).
The data of the effectivity of flood reduction of permeable pavement sometimes concerns the effectivity of the whole area, and sometimes concerns the effectivity of only the area covered with permeable pavement. Therefore, effectivity values of the latter must be multiplied with the percentage of the study area that is covered by permeable pavement, which is about 16%. Runoff \rightarrow average reduction of 23% of total runoff, 40% reduction of infrastructure runoff
Literature: 45-100% reduction of street runoff (Zhu et al., 2019), = 7-16% reduction of total runoff 36-40% reduction of total runoff (Hu et al., 2018) 5-10% reduction of total runoff (Costa et al., 2021) 36% reduction of total runoff (Huang et al., 2014) Peak flow → average reduction of 27% of total peak flow, 49% reduction of infrastructure peak flow
Literature: 79-100% reduction of street runoff peak flow (Zhu et al., 2019), = 14% reduction of total peak flow 32-42% reduction of total peak flow (Hu et al., 2018) 29% reduction of total peak flow (Huang et al., 2014)
Maintenance
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst) Maintenance infrastructure → score of 6 (medium freq. = 3, medium effort = 3) Maintenance residences & facilities → score of 1 (no added maintenance) Maintenance Sassi → score of 1 (no added maintenance)
Literature: 1 time a year – inspect for surface distresses and performance criteria (Hein, 2016) Conditionally – vacuum, repair, replace (low effort) (Hein, 2016) Life span → average estimated life span of 25 years
Literature: 20 year life span (Weiss et al., 2015) 30 year life span (Canadian Nursery Landscape Association, n.d.)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area 🔿 the added green area is 18,439 m ²
Assumptions: The assumption is made that 50% of the area of parking spaces that is made of permeable pavement is green area. This assumption is based on photos of permeable pavement (PICP, see 'additional information').
Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 0 m ²
 Assumptions: The assumption is made that 0% of the area that is made of permeable pavement is recreational area. This assumption is based on the fact that no infrastructure area is added. Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1) Deduces pollution of water a core of 4 4 (reduction of D = 1.0 b) = 1.0 core = 0.104 core

Literature.
Produces nitrogen and sharehous concentration significantly compared to conholt superf (Deen et al. 2007)
Pollutant removal varies widely (Collins et al., 2007)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 9 (people affected = many (4), nuisance = high (4))
Assumptions
To install nermeable pavement the infrastructure must be renewed. Therefore, it is assumed that the
infrastructure is inaccessible (in parts) for the entire duration of construction. Also noise pollution can be
expected for a large area.
Duration construction \rightarrow 24 months
Assumptions/literature:
Construction of permeable pavement goes at 140-600 m ² per man/machine per day, depending on whether
construction is done manually or mechanically (Mutual Materials Company, n.d.). It is unclear if this
construction time takes the preparation of the subsoil into account.
The assumption is made that the average speed of permeable pavement construction is 370 m ² per man per
day, which is based on the assumption that both man and machine will contribute to construction.
assumed that the total construction speed per day (combining the work of all workers and including
preparation time) is 370 m ² per day. Since the payement of 55% of the streets will be replaced by permeable
pavement, the total construction time is about 2 years.
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow \$13,513,284 (USD)
Assumptions/literature:
Material costs of permeable pavements are about \$54 USD (Li et al., 2019)
Based on the assumption that 55% of the paved area will be covered by permeable pavement, the total
construction costs will be \$13,513,284.
Sustainability
Sustainability
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials \rightarrow score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not)
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature:
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015),
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption:
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on o 1 10 costs (with 1 being the worst score of 1).
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances eccentration → score of 2 (upper slightly)
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly)
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions:
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based
Sustainability Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse.
Sustainability Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of normaphic pavement are categorized as permeable asphalts, permeable concreates, and
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (con Figure 30 for an example of each)
Socre is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (see Figure 30 for an example of each). (Zhu et al., 2010) made a distinction in drainare surface semi-nermeable pavement and nermeable
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (see Figure 30 for an example of each). (Zhu et al., 2019) made a distinction in drainage surface, semi-permeable pavement and permeable road (see Figure 31 for a schematic representation of each). All these types have different
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (see Figure 30 for an example of each). (Zhu et al., 2019) made a distinction in drainage surface, semi-permeable pavement and permeable road (see Figure 31 for a schematic representation of each). All these types have different characteristics and effectivity in flood reduction. While permeable asphalt is a form of a drainage.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (see Figure 30 for an example of each). (Zhu et al., 2019) made a distinction in drainage surface, semi-permeable pavement and permeable road (see Figure 31 for a schematic representation of each). All these types have different characteristics and effectivity in flood reduction. While permeable asphalt is a form of a drainage surface nermeable concrete and permeable interlocking navers are a form of a drainage surface permeable concrete and permeable interlocking navers are a form of a drainage
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials → score of 3 (could be completely circular, but is not) Assumptions/literature: Literature states that it is possible to use circular materials for permeable pavement (Rahman et al., 2015), however it is not common practice to use circular materials. Requires little energy → score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → score of 2 (very slightly) Assumptions: It is assumed that permeable pavements enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they only add very little green area that is not diverse. Additional information Types of permeable pavement are categorised as permeable asphalts, permeable concretes, and permeable interlocking concrete pavers by (Hu et al., 2018) (see Figure 30 for an example of each). (Zhu et al., 2019) made a distinction in drainage surface, semi-permeable pavement and permeable road (see Figure 31 for a schematic representation of each). All these types have different characteristics and effectivity in flood reduction. While permeable asphalt is a form of a drainage surface, permeable concrete and permeable interlocking pavers are a form of semi-permeable pavement.

One of the advantages of permeable pavements, besides their function as flood mitigating measure, is that they increase water availability. A disadvantage, however, is that permeable pavements are prone to clogging, which reduces their effectiveness in reducing runoff and peak flow significantly (decrease of about 60% in effectiveness) (Hu et al., 2018; Akter et al., 2020). The type of pavement that is chosen also plays a role in this, because not all types are equally likely to clog (Hu et al., 2018).



Figure 30 - Example of (f.l.t.r.) permeable asphalt (Mrugacz, 2017), permeable concrete (New Dawn, 2015), and permeable interlocking pavers (Sustainable Technologies, 2021)



B.3. Bio-retention systems

Technical information and information about the implementation of bio-retention systems is described in Table 8.

Table 8 - Bio-retention systems implementation and performance on criteria

3. Bio-retention systems

Implementation of measure

It is most easy to construct a bio-retention system at locations with a soft soil medium, in open areas (Shafique, 2016). Also, the system should be placed at a location with a low elevation, since it receives water from its surroundings.

Simulating implementation of a bio-retention system in QGIS can be done by simulating an increase of infiltration in the area, in combination with an increase in water storage area. The first can be done by creating a surface type in the shapefile that links the rainfall data to the cells (the homogeneous areas shapefile) for every surface that can be classified as bio-retention system. The rainfall data for this surface type should be set to 0, since the idea of bio-retention systems is that they let not only the rainfall infiltrate that comes down in the system, but also let rainfall infiltrate from surrounding areas. For the second part, the elevation should be lowered in the area in which the system is constructed by 0.5 meter. In literature it is described that the system has an elevation that is 0.1 meter lowers than surrounding areas (Costa et al., 2021), and 0.4 meter is added to this to make up for the fact that infiltration is not simulated. The alteration can be done in the DEM.

Flood prevention

To be effective as a flood mitigation measure, a bio-retention system needs to take up a surface area that is equal to at least 2-5% of the roof area in the study area (Lu et al., 2019). The flood reduction performance of a bio-retention system is better for lower intensity rainfall events (Shafique, 2016).

Runoff \rightarrow average reduction of 47% of total runoff

Literature:

28% reduction of total runoff (Yang et al., 2013)
48-74% reduction of total runoff (Chapman & Horner, 2010)
97% reduction of total runoff (Debusk & Thompson, 2011)
9-18% reduction of total runoff (Costa et al., 2021)
Peak flow \rightarrow average reduction of 83% of total peak flow
Literature:
67% reduction of total peak flow (Yang et al., 2013)
99% reduction of total peak flow (Debusk & Thompson, 2011)
Maintenance
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Maintenance infrastructure Δ
Maintenance residences & facilities \rightarrow score of 5.5 (medium freq. = 3, low-medium effort = 2.5)
Maintenance Sassi \rightarrow <u>score of 1 (no added maintenance)</u>
Literature
Literuture.
1-2 times a year – visual inspection: look for standing water, accumulated leaves, nole in soil media, signs of
plant distress, debris and sediment accumulation in system (University of New Hampshire Stormwater
Center, 2011; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, 2016)
Conditionally – removal of leaves from system and bypass structure, vegetation care, repairs of above (low
effort) (University of New Hampshire Stormwater Center, 2011; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency,
2009; Minnesota Pollution Control Agency, 2016)
Life span → average estimated life span of 25 years
Liberatura
Literature:
25+ year life span (Spraakman et al., 2020)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area \rightarrow the added green area is 15,636 m ²
Assumptions:
Since a bio-retention system must take up at least 2-5% of the total root area, the assumption is made that
the total bio-retention system area will take up 3.5% of the roof area.
The assumption is made that 100% of the bio-retention area is green area. This assumption is based on the
construction materials and schematic drawings of bio-retention systems.
Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 4,691 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that 30% of the area that is covered by bio-retention systems is suitable as
recreational area. This assumption is based on photos of bio-retention systems, but it must be noted that
this value can vary highly, depending on the bio-retention system.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1)
Reduces pollution of water \rightarrow score of 7.3 (reduction of P = 2.5, N = 1.9, SS = 1.3, HM = 1.3)
······································
Literature:
Reduces 70-85% of phosphorus concentration and 55-65% of nitrogen concentration (Davis et al., 2009; Davis
et al., 2006)
Reduces 40% of nitrogen (Hunt et al., 2006)
Reduces 85-94% of phosphorus, 63-77% of nitrogen and 28-66% of carbon (Henderson et al., 2007)
Reduces suspended solids (Hunt et al., 2006; Kumar et al., 2013)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 6 (noople affected = medium (2) nuicence = med (2))
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$
Assumptions:
A bio-retention system is a relatively small construction project. However, it is constructed in a shared space
outside, so many people will be affected by noise pollution and a (small) inaccessible area.
Duration construction \rightarrow 12 months
Assumptions/literature:

No literature about the construction time of bio-retention systems could be found. The assumption is made that the construction of all bio-retention systems in the area takes about 1 year. This assumption is based on the fact that they cover a relatively small area and are not very construction intensive. Costs of construction materials \rightarrow \$4,143,540 (USD) Assumptions/literature: Material costs of a bio-retention system are about \$100-\$430 USD (Low Impact Development Center, 2021), on average this is \$265 USD. Based on the assumption that bio-retention systems will cover 3.5% of the roof area, the total construction costs will be \$4,143,540. **Sustainability** Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Circular materials \rightarrow score of 8 (largely circular, little not known/not circular) Assumptions/literature: No literature about the use of circular materials for the construction of bio-retention systems could be found. The assumption is made that bio-retention systems are largely made of circular materials, based on the fact that their construction materials are vegetation (circular), filter media (circular), a transition layer (circular), drainage layer (circular), and a drainage pipe (unknown if circular). Requires little energy \rightarrow <u>score of 1</u> Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem \rightarrow score of 7 (moderately-highly) Assumptions: It is assumed that a bio-retention system enhances the ecosystem moderately-highly. This assumption is based on the fact that they add green area that is moderately diverse. **Additional information** Advantages of a bio-retention system, besides its function as flood mitigation measure, include its contribution to improved aesthetic value, increased biodiversity in the area, reduction in urban heat, and the fact that it requires less area than green roofs (Costa et al., 2021). Still, the area that is required for bio-retention systems is scarce, since it needs to be on the ground level, which is highly demanded in urban areas (Lu et al., 2019). Another disadvantage is that landowners often do not have the experience required for maintenance of the system (Shafique, 2016; Akter et al., 2020), and the system is prone to clogging if the soil it is built on consists of clay-sized particles (Shafique, 2016). Lastly, research shows that the public thought that the system results in an increase of mosquitos in the area, which could cause diseases (Shafique, 2016). For a schematic representation of a bio-retention system, see Figure 32 (Shafique, 2016). Overflow over the curt Surface runoff Vegetation laye Filter media (Sandy loam) Transition laver (Coarse Sand) Drainage layer (Coarse Sand/Gravel) Perforated Collection Pipe Treated storm Into laye discharge Exfiltration into native s and stable underground water level

Figure 32 - Schematic overview of layers of a bio-retention system (Shafique, 2016)

B.4. Retention ponds

Technical information and information about the implementation of retention ponds is described in Table 9.

Table 9 - Retention	ponds	implementation	and per	formance on	criteria

4. Retention nonds
Implementation of measure
Preferably, a retention pond is constructed on a location with soft soils (e.g. mud) (Li et al., 2019). Also, it has to be possible to excavate the location to at least 0.15 meters, but preferably a bit more to 0.45-0.6 meters. An eye should be kept on the groundwater table as well (Lu et al., 2019; Li et al., 2019). Lastly, the elevation at the location of the pond should be lower than that of the surroundings.
Simulating implementation of a retention pond in QGIS can be done by simulating an increase of the water storage capacity at the location of the retention pond. This can be done by lowering the elevation in the DEM at the location of the pond.
Flood prevention
A retention pond must take up a surface area of at least 2% of the study area to be effective as a flood mitigation measure (Li et al., 2019).
Runoff → <u>average reduction of 10% of total runoff</u>
<i>Literature:</i> 0% reduction of total runoff (Hancock et al., 2010) 20% reduction of total runoff (Budianto et al., 2020)
Peak flow → average reduction of 0% of total peak flow
<i>Literature:</i> 0.3% reduction of total peak flow (Emerson et al., 2005) 0% reduction of total peak flow (McCuen, 1979) 0% reduction of total peak flow ('not effective') (Fennessey et al., 2001)
Maintenance
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Maintenance infrastructure → score of 1 (no added maintenance) Maintenance residences & facilities → score of 5.5 (low freq. = 2, medium-high effort = 3.5) Maintenance Sassi → score of 1 (no added maintenance)
 Literature: 1 time a year – cleaning and removing debris, harvesting of vegetation, repairing embankment and side slopes, repairing control structure (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Hatcher, 2020) Once per 5 years – removing sediment from forebays or sediment storage areas (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Hatcher, 2020) Conditionally – repairs after inspection, minor maintenance and major repair (incl. permanent pool, clogging, pipe repairs, vegetation management, dredging and muck removal, mechanical components and nuisance issues (animals, waterfowl, mosquitoes, undesirable plant communities, water quality degradation)) (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009) Conditionally – prevent erosion (reseeding), clear blocked inlets and outlets (remove debris), vegetation management, stop critter damage (Schill, 2015) Life span → average estimated life span of 20 years
Life span 7 average estimated file span of 20 years
Literature: 20+ year life span (Waelti & Spuhler, 2020)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area → the added green and blue area is 27,183 m ² Assumptions:

Since a retention pond must take up at least 2% of the study area, the assumption is made that the total retention pond area will take up 2% of the study area. The assumption is made that 100% of the retention pond area is green or blue area. This assumption is based on photos of retention ponds.
Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 2 718 m ²
Assumptions: The assumption is made that 10% of the area that is covered by retention ponds is suitable as recreational area. This assumption is based on the assumption that water in retention ponds is not suitable as recreational area for the largest part of the year, and on photos of retention ponds. It must be noted that
the value of 10% can vary highly, depending on the retention pond.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1)
Reduces pollution of water \rightarrow score of 4.0 (reduction of P = 0.7, N = 0.7, SS = 1.9, HM = 0)
Literature:
Reduces >30% of phosphorus, nitrogen and suspended solid concentrations (Baird et al., 2020) Reduces suspended solids effectively, but no effect on dissolved pollutants (Pettersson, 1998)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 6.5 (people affected = medium (3), nuisance = medium-high (3.5))
Assumptions:
A retention pond is a construction project in a shared space outside. Many people will be affected by noise pollution and an inaccessible area of medium magnitude.
Duration construction $\rightarrow 3$ months
Assumptions/literature:
No literature about the exact construction time of retention ponds could be found. However, literature does show that construction of a retention pond is 'easy' (Hancock et al., 2010).
The assumption is made that the construction of retention ponds in the study area takes 3 months.
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow \$363,573 (USD)
Assumptions/literature:
Material costs of a retention pond can be found in literature at \$17.50-35.00 USD per m ³ (Naturally Resilient
Based on the assumption that a retention nond covers 2% of the total study area, and that it is 0.5 meters
deep, the total construction costs will be \$363,573.
Sustainability
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Circular materials \rightarrow score of 8 (largely circular, little not known/not circular)
Assumptions/literature: No literature about the use of circular materials for the construction of retention ponds could be found. The assumption is made that retention ponds are largely made of circular materials, based on the fact that their construction materials are mostly vegetation (circular), and possibly a drainage system including
pumps (unknown if circular, assumed not circular).
Requires little energy \rightarrow score of 1
Assumption:
No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1).
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem \rightarrow score of 7 (moderately-highly)
Assumptions:
It is assumed that retention ponds enhance the ecosystem moderately-highly. This assumption is based on the fact that they add both green and blue area. However, the green area is not very diverse.

Additional information

Advantages of retention ponds include their relatively easy design and construction process (Hancock et al., 2010). However, they take up a lot of space if they are to be effective in flood reduction, which can be difficult in an urbanised area such as Matera (Budianto et al., 2020; Li et al., 2019). Lastly, ponding might let the public believe that there will be an increase in mosquitos, similarly to bio-retention systems (Shafique, 2016). Figure 33 shows an example of a retention pond.



Figure 33 - Example of a retention pond (Presley, 2019)

B.5. Rain barrels

Technical information and information about the implementation of rain barrels is described in Table 10.

Table 10 - Rain barrels implementation and performance on criteria

5. Rain barrels

Implementation of measure

Rain barrels can be installed at all buildings. Since they retain roof runoff and not all buildings have a similar roof surface area, their size or the number of rain barrels that is installed varies per building.

Simulating implementation of rain barrels can be done by reducing the roof runoff. There is a lag time for the water that is retained in the barrels, but this time can be so large that the fact that the retained water must be released at some point can be neglected. Therefore, only the rainfall data must be changed for all roofs. This can be done by multiplying it with a factor similar to values for retention performance found in literature.

Flood prevention

The effectivity of rain barrels as flood mitigation measure depends on multiple factors, such as the spatial distribution of the rain barrels, the surface area that forms the catchment of the rain barrels, the rainfall amount, and tank size. Depending on the amount of impervious area, rain barrels can be more effective, performing best in an area that is 50-60% impervious (Akter et al., 2020). Especially for rainfall events up to 50mm, rain barrels are effective, but for extreme rainfalls the flood reduction they cause is neglectable (Akter et al., 2020; Freni & Liuzzo, 2019).

Runoff \rightarrow average reduction of 41% of total runoff

Literature:

26% reduction of total runoff (Palla et al., 2017)30% reduction of total runoff (Zhang et al., 2012)35-100% reduction of total runoff (Freni & Liuzzo, 2019)

Peak flow \rightarrow <u>average reduction of 32% of total peak flow</u>

Literature:

28-33% reduction of total peak flow (Akter et al., 2020)

33% reduction of total peak flow (Palla et al., 2017)

Maintenance

Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Maintenance infrastructure → <u>score of 1 (no added maintenance)</u>
Maintenance residences & facilities \rightarrow score of 3.5 (low-medium freq. = 2.5, very low effort = 1)
Maintenance Sassi → <u>score of 1 (no added maintenance)</u>
Literature: 2-3 times a year – seasonal preparation, leaf and debris removal, water drainage, monitoring (Chesapeake Bay Foundation, 2020: Montgomery County, Department of Environmental Protection, 2013)
Life span \rightarrow average estimated life span of 20 years
Literature:
20 year life span (Environmental Services, City of Portland, 2006)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area -> the added green and blue area is 0 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that rain barrels add no green or blue surface area. This assumption is based on photos of rain barrels.
Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 0 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that rain barrels add no recreational area. This assumption is based on photos of rain barrels.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1)
Reduces pollution of water → <u>score of 1 (reduction of P = 0, N = 0, SS = 0, HM = 0)</u>
literature ·
Has no water pollution reducing effect (Shuster et al., 2013)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 2 (people affected = very few (1), nuisance = very little (1))
Assumptions:
the installing process only affects people living in the building they are installed at
Duration construction \rightarrow 30 months
Assumptions/literature:
The construction time of rain barrels depends on many factors, but most of all on their size. For regular (small)
(commercial/industrial) rain barrels, construction time is about 2 days per rain barrel (Kaiser, 2021).
In the OGIS shanefile, there are 757 buildings (most are large buildings). Based on the assumption that on
each large building 3 large detention tanks are installed, this means that 2271 large rain barrels have to be
installed. Some buildings will need residential (small) rain barrels instead of large rain barrels, but since they
do not take as long to install, it is assumed that their installation time is included in the calculation when
only large rain barrels are taken into account.
The assumption is made that 5 barrels can be constructed at the same time. This means that the construction
time for all the rain barrels together will be around 2.5 years.
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow <u>\$570,021 (USD)</u>
Assumptions/literature:
Material costs of rain barrels that are found in literature range between \$35-\$600 USD (Kaiser, 2021), and
\$70-\$300 USD (Costhelper, 2021). On average, this is \$251 per (large) rain barrel.
Based on the assumption that 2271 rain barrels will be installed, the total construction costs will be \$570,021.
Sustainability
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Circular materials \rightarrow score of 8 (largely circular, little not known/not circular)
Accumptions literature.

The construction material of rain barrels is a plastic, polyethylene (Kaeding, 2020). The assumption is made that rain barrels are largely made of circular materials. This is based on the fact that polyethylene is circular, but of the system that is used to drain the water from the roof to the barrel it is not known if it is circular. Requires little energy \rightarrow score of 1 Assumption: No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly. Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1). Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best) Enhances ecosystem → <u>score of 1 (no enhancement)</u> Assumptions: It is assumed that rain barrels do not enhance the ecosystem. This assumption is based on the fact that they do not add any green or blue area. Additional information Rain barrels have one big advantage, besides their function as flood mitigation measure, which is that they are easy to install (Akter et al., 2020). Besides that, the water that is collected can also be used by households that live in the houses on which the barrels are placed, which is especially useful in periods of drought (Freni & Liuzzo, 2019). However, it might be the case that not all rooftops are suitable for collecting rainfall (Akter et al., 2020), and tanks that are larger than 5 m³ (which are preferred for (industrial) buildings with a larger surface) fall in a different category in terms of construction effort and costs (Freni & Liuzzo, 2019). For a schematic representation of the set-up of rain barrels, see Figure 34. Collection Area Transportation System orage acility 0000

Figure 34 - Schematic set-up of a rain barrel rainwater harvesting system (Richmond Vale, 2017)

B.6. Urban wetlands

Technical information and information about the implementation of urban wetlands is described in Table 11.

Table 11 - Urban wetlands implementation and performance on criteria

6. Urban wetlands

Implementation of measure

Ideally, an urban wetland is constructed at an open location with soft soils and a low elevation (Shafique, 2016; Li et al., 2019). Preferably it should also be possible to excavate at least 0.15 meters of the soil, to allow ponding (Lu et al., 2019).

Simulating implementation of an urban wetland in QGIS can be done by simulating an increase of infiltration in the area, in combination with an increase in water storage area. The first can be done by creating a surface type in the shapefile that links the rainfall data to the cells (the homogeneous areas shapefile) for every surface that can be classified as urban wetland. The rainfall data for this

surface type should be altered to be similar to rainfall for green areas. For the second part, the
elevation should be lowered in the area in which ponding is desired. This can be done in the DEM.
Ponding does not occur in the whole area, the assumption is made that it occurs in about 50% of
the area that is classified as urban wetland. Therefore, a lower elevation should be assigned to 50%
of the area.
Flood prevention
To be effective as a flood mitigation measure, urban wetlands need to take up a surface area that is
equal to at least 2-5% of the roof area in the study area (Lu et al., 2019).
Runoff → average reduction of 48% of total runoff

Literature:

12-83% reduction of total runoff (Rizzo et al., 2018)

Peak flow \rightarrow <u>average reduction of 80% of total peak flow</u>

Literature:

86% reduction of total peak flow (Oral et al., 2020)

53-95% reduction of total peak flow (Rizzo et al., 2018)

Maintenance

Maintenance Sassi \rightarrow

Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)

Maintenance infrastructure \rightarrow

score of 1 (no added maintenance) Maintenance residences & facilities \rightarrow score of 5.5 (low freq. = 2, medium-high effort = 3.5) score of 1 (no added maintenance)

Literature:

1 time a year - cleaning and removing debris, harvesting of vegetation, repairing embankment and side slopes, repairing control structure (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Hobart City Council, 2006) Once per 5 years - removing sediment from forebays or sediment storage areas (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Hobart City Council, 2006)

Conditionally – repairs after inspection, minor maintenance and major repair (incl. permanent pool, clogging, pipe repairs, vegetation management, dredging and muck removal, mechanical components and nuisance issues (animals, waterfowl, mosquitoes, undesirable plant communities, water quality degradation)) (U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2009; Hobart City Council, 2006)

Life span → average estimated life span of 20 years

Literature:

15-25 year life span (Gray)

Enhancement of living area

Added green and/or blue area \rightarrow the added green and blue area is 15,636 m²

Assumptions:

Since an urban wetland must take up at least 2-5% of the total roof area, the assumption is made that the total urban wetland area will take up 3.5% of the roof area.

The assumption is made that 100% of the urban wetland area is green or blue area. This assumption is based on schematic drawings and photos of urban wetlands.

Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 4,691 m²

Assumptions:

The assumption is made that 30% of the area that is covered by urban wetlands is suitable as recreational area. This assumption is based on photos of urban wetlands, but it must be noted that this value can vary highly, depending on the urban wetland.

Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1) Reduces pollution of water \rightarrow score of 7.8 (reduction of P = 1.9, N = 1.9, SS = 1.9, HM = 1.9)

Literature:

Reduces nitrogen concentration, as well as 21-38% of phosphorus concentration (Palta et al., 2017) Reduces 46-90% of phosphorus, 16-84% of nitrogen concentration and up to 88% of suspended solids. Also reduces heavy metals (23-97%), pesticides, pharmaceuticals and various other contaminants (Oral et al., 2020)

Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst) Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 6.5 (neople affected = medium (3), nuisance = medium high
$\frac{1}{(2 \text{ c})}$
(5.5))
Assumptions:
An urban wetland is a construction project of medium magnitude. It must be constructed in a shared space
outside, so many people will be affected by noise pollution and an inaccessible area of a medium magnitude.
Duration construction \rightarrow 8 months
Assumptions/literature
No literature about urban wetlands could be found. However, literature showed that after construction of the
urban wetland, it takes 5-10 years before the soil will perform ontimally for water quality improvement and
water quantity reduction (Ahn & Schmidt 2019)
It is assumed that the construction time of urban wetlands is the average of the construction time of retention
ponds and bio-retention systems. This is about 8 months.
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow \$2.253.557 (USD)
Assumptions/literature:
Exact material costs of urban wetlands cannot be found in literature. However, literature mentions that urban
wetlands are cost-effective (Sharley et al., 2017).
It is assumed that the total construction costs are equal to the average of the costs of bio-retention systems
and retention ponds. This is \$2,253,557.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Circular materials \rightarrow score of 8 (largely circular, little not known/not circular)
Assumptions/literature:
No literature about the circularity of materials for construction of urban wetlands could be found.
The assumption is made that urban wetlands have construction materials that are similar to those of a bio-
retention system and retention pond. Therefore, it is assumed that urban wetlands are largely constructed
with circular materials.
Requires little energy \rightarrow <u>score of 1</u>
Assumption
No literature could be found about how much energy is required by the measures to function properly.
Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1).
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Enhances ecosystem \rightarrow score of 8 (highly)
Assumptions:
It is assumed that urban wetlands enhance the ecosystem highly. This assumption is based on the fact that
they add both green and blue area, that are both relatively diverse.
Advantages of urban wetlands, besides their function as flood mitigation measure, include
enhancement of biodiversity, provision of social benefits for citizens, and mitigation of urban heat
(Palta et al., 2017). However, similarly to bio-retention systems and retention ponds, they have
standing water, which can lead to an increase of mosquitos (Palta et al., 2017). Also, urban wetlands
require a lot of space (> 3 ha (Oral et al., 2020)), which makes it less suitable for urban environments

(Lashford et al., 2019). A schematic representation of an urban wetland can be seen in Figure 35.



B.7. Detention tanks

Technical information and information about the implementation of detention tanks is described in Table 12.

Table 12 - Detention tanks implementation and performance on criteria

7. Detention tanks									
Implementation of measure									
Detention tanks can be constructed best at location with no large underground constructions nearby (such as railway stations), and have no large buildings on top (Li et al., 2019). Since detention tanks are underground constructions, it is easiest to install them at locations that have a soft soil medium (e.g. mud) (Li et al., 2019). In the area, it is expected that 21 detention tanks are needed. This is based on the relative impervious area and the absolute complete study area (OPUB: Singapore's National Water Agency, 2021), in combination with the volume of detention tanks (2800 m ³) that is described by (Li et al., 2019).									
Simulating the implementation of detention tanks can be done by reducing the peak flow. This can be imitated by altering the rainfall data for the whole study area, in a way that the cumulative rainfall remains unchanged, but the precipitation per time step is lowered. This is possible by increasing the time of the rainfall event.									
Flood prevention									
Detention tanks are more effective for large rainfall events. Because they form an extension of the drainage system, they are very quick in reducing runoff (Li et al., 2019). However, little sources could be found that describe the effectivity of detention tanks as flood mitigation measure.									
Runoff → average reduction of 46% of total runoff									
<i>Literature:</i> 46% reduction of total runoff (Li et al., 2019)									
Peak flow → average reduction of 50% of total peak flow									
<i>Literature:</i> 50% reduction (Li et al., 2019)									
Maintenance									
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)									
Maintenance infrastructure \rightarrow score of 1 (no added maintenance)									
Maintenance residences & facilities \rightarrow score of 6.0 (low-med. freq. = 2.5, medhigh effort = 3.5)									
Maintenance Sassi → <u>score of 1 (no added maintenance)</u>									
Literature:									
1 time a year – inspection, system cleaning (debris and sediment removal) with a high pressure water jet and									
Maintenance frequency depends on system design, but is high effort due to underground construction									
(Prinsco, n.d.; U.S. Department of Transportation, Federal Highway Administration, n.d.)									

Life span → average estimated life span of 48 years
Literature:
20-75 year life span (G. Kowalsky, 2021)
Enhancement of living area
Added green and/or blue area \rightarrow the added green and blue area is 0 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that detention tanks add no green or blue surface area. This assumption is based on
the fact that detention tanks are built underground.
Added recreational area \rightarrow the added recreational area is 0 m ²
Assumptions:
The assumption is made that detention tanks add no recreational area. This assumption is based on the fact
that detention tanks are built underground.
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best, score = points/10*9 + 1)
Reduces pollution of water \rightarrow score of 4.4 (reduction of P = 0, N = 0, SS = 1.9, HM = 1.9)
Literature:
Reduces 31-57% of suspended solids, as well as about 50% of heavy metals (Stormwater Assessment
Monitoring and Performance Program, 2004)
Construction of measure
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the best score and 10 the worst)
Impact during construction \rightarrow score of 7 (people affected = medium (3), nuisance = high (4))
Assumptions:
Detention tanks are very construction intensive, since they have to be placed underground. Therefore, it is
assumed that potentially local infrastructure has to be closed off, and large machinery is required. Also,
noise pollution is expected.
Duration of construction \rightarrow 35 months
Assumptions/literature:
Construction of a detention tank takes about 5 months per tank (Brandl et al., 2017).
Since it is assumed that 21 detention tanks will be installed, this means that construction of detention tanks
will take 105 months. However, it is also assumed that 3 detention tanks can be constructed at the same
time, which means that the total construction time will be 35 months (almost 3 years).
Costs of construction materials \rightarrow <u>\$44,100,000 (USD)</u>
Assumptions/literature:
Material costs of detention tanks that are found in literature are around \$750 USD per m ³ (Li et al., 2019).
It is assumed that one detention tank will have a volume of 2800 m ³ . For 21 detention tanks, the total volume
will be 58800 m ³ . This means that the total construction costs of detention tanks will be \$44,100,000.
Sustainability
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
Circular materials \rightarrow score of 1 (completely not circular)
Assumptions/literature:
The construction material of detention tanks is either polyethylene, fiberglass, or galvanized steel. The latter
is mostly used in cases with a large storage requirement (Kaeding, 2020)
The assumption is made that all detention tanks have a large storage volume. Therefore, they are all made of
gaivanized steel, which is not a circular material. At detention tanks, also pumps are installed to drain the
Requires little energy \rightarrow score of 1
Assumption:
Therefore, they are all set to score equally (score of 1).
Score is on a 1-10 scale (with 1 being the worst score and 10 the best)
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$

Assumptions:

It is assumed that detention tanks enhance the ecosystem only very slightly. This assumption is based on the fact that they are located in an underground space which is very inaccessible, but they potentially have standing water.

Additional information

A big advantage of detention tanks is that they can be implemented at one location to reduce flooding at other locations (Li et al., 2019), as well as that they are cheaper than renewal of the conventional drainage system (Li et al., 2019). However, they are quite construction intensive, since they need to be built underground. An example of a relatively small detention tank can be seen in Figure 36.



Figure 36 - Animated underground detention tank (GRAF, 2021)

Appendix C – Value tree hierarchies to criteria

In this appendix, the conversion process from value tree hierarchies to weighted criteria is presented. This consists of the set-up of value tree hierarchies, connection of the stakeholder interests to each object in the value tree hierarchies, connection of the design requirements to the criteria, and calculation of the weights.

C.1. Value tree hierarchies

According to the theory as described in section 2.3., value tree hierarchies have been set up. The interests of the stakeholder groups have been translated in either values, norms or design requirements. For the value tree hierarchies, there are three overarching values, and when they are specified into design requirements all stakeholder interests are represented in these trees. The three values are 'human wellbeing', 'economic prosperity', and 'environmental stewardship'.

In Figure 37 and Figure 38 the value tree hierarchies are shown. There are certain design requirements that contribute to the achievement of multiple norms, such as the increase of green and/or blue area. This contributes to the achievement of a pleasant living area (under human wellbeing), but also to the achieving enhancement of biodiversity (under environmental stewardship). This shows that such design requirements contribute more to compliance with stakeholder interests, and therefore they are valued higher than other design requirements.



Figure 37 - Value tree hierarchy: Human wellbeing

To see which design requirements contribute to the achievement of which stakeholder interests, a visualisation as shown in Figure 39 was made. The colours of the boxes correspond to the colours of the stakeholder groups (purple = local authorities, orange = local communities, red = businesses, green = civil societies). If a box is filled by a colour, or has an outline of a colour, this means that it contributes to the achievement of an interest of the stakeholder group of that colour. It is possible that one box is outlined or filled by the same colour multiple times, since it may be linked to multiple interests. For each outline or fill of one colour on a design requirement, the value of the corresponding stakeholder group is added to the total score of that design requirement.



Figure 38 - Value tree hierarchies: Economic prosperity & Environmental stewardship

C.2. Criteria

According to the method that is explained in section 2.3., criteria were set up that were assessed on multiple aspects. The final criteria are presented in Table 2. To assign a weight to the criteria, the design requirements have been linked to the criteria. In Table 13, the design requirements are linked to criteria for which they ensure a good performance if they are incorporated in a design. The numbers for the design requirements in Table 13 correspond to the numbers in Figure 39. The total scores of the design requirements are then added and assigned to the criteria. These scores for the criteria are then used as input for the AHP for the individual criteria, and for the criteria groups. These are presented in Table 14 and Table 15.

DR →	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23
Cr 1a					Х					Х				Х									
Cr 1b	Х		Х									Х											
Cr 1c				Х				Х					Х										
Cr 2a					Х					Х				Х									
Cr 2b	х		Х									Х											
Cr 2c				Х				Х					Х										
Cr 3a					Х						Х			Х									
Cr 3b			Х									Х											
Cr 3c				Х				Х					Х										
Cr 4																				Х			
Cr 5						Х												Х					
Cr 6							Х																
Cr 7		Х																	Х				
Cr 8									Х								Х						Х
Cr 9																Х							
Cr 10															Х								
Cr 11																					Х		
Cr 12																						Х	
Cr 13																							х

Table 13 - Linking of design requirements to criteria of the MCA



Figure 39 - Value tree hierarchies, visually representing their compliance with stakeholder interests
A: Prevention of flooding													
	1.a	1.b	1.c	2. a	2.b	2.c	Geometric Mean	Weight					
1.a		1.3	1.1	1.0	1.3	1.1	1.155	0.19					
1.b	0.8		0.8	0.8	1.0	0.8	0.845	0.14					
1.c	0.9	1.2		0.9	1.2	1.0	1.042	0.17					
2. a	1.0	1.3	1.1		1.3	1.1	1.155	0.19					
2.b	0.8	1.0	0.8	0.8		0.8	0.845	0.14					
2.c	0.9	1.2	1.0	0.9	1.2		1.042	0.17					
Tot		6.085											
	B: Maintenance of area												
	3. a	3.b	3.c	4		Weight							
3.a		1.7	1.2	6.0		0.41							
3.b	0.6		0.7	3.5		0.22							
3.c	0.8	1.4		5.0		0.34							
4	0.2	0.3	0.2			0.03							
Tot				7.204 1.00									
			C: E	nhanco	ement	of livi	ng area						
	5	6	7		Weight								
5		1.2	1.4		0.41								
6	0.9		1.2		0.33								
7	0.7	0.9			0.26								
Tot				3.073 1.00									
			D:	Constr	uction	of me	easure						
	8	9	10		Weight								
8		3.1	3.1		0.70								
9	0.3		1.0		0.15								
10	0.3	1.0			0.15								
Tot					1.00								
E: Sustainability													
	11	12	13		Weight								
11		1.0	1.0		0.33								
12	1.0		1.0		0.33								
13	1.0	1.0			0.33								
Tat						3.0	000	1.00					

Table 14 - Weight of individual criteria

Bachelor Thesis Flood Mitigation Matera – A.V. (Lieke) van Haastregt

Criteria groups											
	Α	В	С	D	Е	Geometric Mean	Weight				
Α		1.0	3.3	2.3	5.4	3.007	0.37				
В	1.0		3.2	2.2	5.2	2.880	0.35				
С	0.3	0.3		0.7	1.6	0.735	0.09				
D	0.4	0.5	1.4		2.3	1.164	0.14				
Ε	0.2	0.2	0.6	0.4		0.356	0.04				
Tot						8.141	1.00				

Table 15 - Weight of each group of criteria

Appendix D – Inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV over time for critical points

In the tables below, the inundation depth, flow velocity, and DV are presented over time for all critical points. In the left columns, the development of each characteristic is shown for the current situation, so with no implemented flood mitigation measure, while in the right columns the development of each characteristic is shown for the new situation, so with simulated implementation of bio-retention systems. The graphs are directly created as output of the model.



Table 16 - Inundation depth over time for all critical points in the current and the new situation





Table 17 - Flow velocity over time for all critical points in the current and the new situation













